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ANNUAL FINANCIAL RESULTS  
 

 

Summary 

 A gross loss from mining operations of US$5.6 million for the financial year. 

 A consolidated group profit of US$15.0 million after tax for the financial year. 

 The consolidated group profit includes a loan forgiveness credit of US$50.4 million relating to the 

previously announced debt re-profile agreed with the lending syndicate. 

 Net assets decreased by US$8.0 million from US$67.8 million to US$59.8 million at 30 June 2014 

as a result of the underlying loss from operations. 

 Cash on hand at 30 June 2014 was US$4.6 million.  

 Total debt was US$109.6m consisting of interest bearing debt of US$100 million and non-interest 

bearing debt of US$9.6m (being the present value of the US$20.0m incentive payment payable to 

the lending syndicate pursuant to the debt re-profile). 

Commentary  

Discovery Metals Limited (ASX/BSE: DML) (Discovery Metals, DML or the Company) reports its full year 

financial results comprising the Directors’ Report, Directors’ Declaration and audited Financial 

Statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 (Annual Accounts).    

The Annual Accounts also include the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement in accordance with 

the ASX Corporate Governance Council Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations with 

2010 Amendments (2nd edition).   

The reported profit reflects the positive impact of the debt re-profile agreed with the Company’s lenders 

and the operating revenue and expenses from the Boseto Copper Operation from 1 July 2013, the date 

from which the Company entered the production stage and therefore commenced depreciation of 

capitalised mine development costs.   

2014 Annual General Meeting 

The Company expects to hold its 2014 Annual General Meeting in November this year.  Shareholders will 

be sent a copy of the notice of meeting in due course. 
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This release includes certain statements that may be deemed “forward-looking statements”.  All statements in this discussion, 

other than statements of historical facts, that address future activities and events or developments that Discovery Metals expects, 

are forward-looking statements.  Although Discovery Metals believes the expectations expressed in such forward-looking 

statements are based on reasonable assumptions, such statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results 

or developments may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements.  Factors that could cause actual results to 

differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include market prices, continued availability of capital and financing, 

and general economic, market or business conditions.  Investors are cautioned that any such statements are not guarantees of 

future performance and that actual results or developments may differ materially from those projected in forward-looking 

statements. 

 
 
 

DISCOVERY METALS BACKGROUND 
Discovery Metals is an ASX/BSE listed copper exploration and production company focused on the emerging Kalahari Copperbelt 

in north-west Botswana.  The Company is a copper producer at its 100% owned Boseto Copper Project.   

The Kalahari Copperbelt sediment-hosted mineralisation of the Boseto Copper Project is similar in style to the well-known  

and large deposits of the Central African Copperbelt of Zambia and the Democratic Republic of the Congo. 

Discovery Metals has prospecting licences covering approximately 26,150 km2 in Botswana. 

 

 

 

Further information on the Company including Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves is available on our website:  

www.discoverymetals.com 

 

For further information on this release and Discovery Metals Limited, please contact: 

Bob Fulker - CEO  

Phone: +61 7 3218 0222 / Email: Bob.Fulker@discoverymetals.com 

Paul Frederiks - CFO and Company Secretary  

Phone: +61 7 3218 0222 / Email: Paul.Frederiks@discoverymetals.com 
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Appendix 4E 
 

Preliminary Final Report 
 
Name of entity 

DISCOVERY METALS LIMITED (and controlled entities) 

 

ABN   Year ended 

29 104 924 423  30 June 2014 

 

Results for announcement to the market 
 

Results 
2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Percentage 
increase / 
(decrease) 

Revenues from ordinary activities 155,066 - n/a 

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities after tax 

attributable to members 
15,002 (224,280) 106.7% 

Net profit/(loss) for the period attributable to 

members 
(18,994) (222,883) 91.5% 

 

Dividends 

The Directors do not propose to recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the period. 

 

Net Tangible Asset Backing As at 30 June 2014 As at 30 June 2013 

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary security 

(US cents per share) 9.3 cents 13.9 cents 

 

Review of results:  

Please refer to the attached Directors’ Report for a full commentary on the results for the period and 
refer to the 2014 Financial Report for the detailed financial statements and explanatory notes to the 
accounts.  

 

Compliance statement 

This report is based on accounts which have been audited.  The audit report contains an emphasis of 
matter statement with respect to going concern and is attached. 
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Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Consolidated Group) 

consisting of Discovery Metals Limited (referred to hereafter as the Company) and the entities it controlled at the 

end of or during the year ended 30 June 2014.   

1. Board of Directors 

The names of the directors of Discovery Metals in office at any time during or since the end of the full year are: 

Jeremy Read – Executive Chairman (appointed 26 June 2014) 

 – Interim Non-Executive Chairman (30 October 2013 to 25 June 2014) 

 – Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 February 2008) 

Qualifications: BSc (Hons), MAusIMM 

Experience and 
expertise: 

Jeremy has 26 years’ domestic and international minerals exploration experience and was 

previously the Manager of BHP’s Australian Exploration Team.  He has extensive exploration 

experience for copper, nickel and gold mineral deposits having played a critical role in the 

discovery of Cairn Hill copper-iron deposit in South Australia and the Kabanga North nickel 

deposit in Tanzania.  Jeremy was the founding managing director of Discovery Metals Limited 

from its incorporation in May 2003, until his appointment as a non-executive director on 

1 February 2008.  Mr Read secured the Boseto Copper Project for Discovery Metals and was 

responsible for all Discovery Metals’ fund raising activities and for listing the Company on the 

Australian Securities Exchange, Botswana Stock Exchange and the Alternative Investment 

Market in London.  

Jeremy was also the founding managing director of Meridian Minerals Limited, obtained the 

Lennard Shelf Zinc-Lead Project for Meridian and led the company until its takeover by the 

Chinese mining company NWME.  

Other current 
directorships:  

Non-Executive Director of Harmattan Gold Limited (since January 2012) 

Director of Oresearch Limited (since January 2012) 

Former directorships 
in last three years: 

Managing Director of Avalon Minerals Limited (February 2012 to November 2013) 

Managing Director of Meridian Minerals Limited (September 2008 to December 2011) 

Committees: Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee (since 21 May 2013) 

Member of the Technical Committee (since 25 February 2014) 

Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee (since 25 February 2014) 

Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee (21 May 2013 to 25 February 2014) 

Ribson Gabonowe – Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications: BSc (Mining Engineering), MSc (Mineral Economics), MBA 

Experience and 
expertise: 

Ribson is a Mining Engineer with over 30 years’ experience in the mining industry.  For twelve 

years to December 2006, Ribson was the Director of Mines of Botswana, responsible for 

administering the legal and fiscal framework governing mineral exploitation.  In this role, 

Ribson was involved in negotiations of mineral agreements for copper, nickel, diamonds, coal 

and soda ash.   

Ribson is a director of all Discovery Metals subsidiaries registered in Botswana. 

Other current 
directorships:  

Managing Director of Boteti Mining (Pty) Ltd (since December 2010) 
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Former directorships 
in last three years: 

Nil 

Committees: Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee (since 25 February 2014) 

Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee (since 21 May 2013) 

Director of each of the Company’s Botswana subsidiaries 

Russell Luxford – Non-Executive Director (appointed 25 September 2013) 

Qualifications:  BEng (Hons) 

Experience and 
expertise:  

Russell is an engineer with over 30 years’ experience in the mining industry working in senior 

technical and managerial positions for Citadel Resources Group, Ma’aden, WMC, Rio Tinto, 

RGC and others.  Mr Luxford’s expertise is principally in project development (including 

commissioning and ramp-up) and operational effectiveness for mine and processing 

performance improvement.  

Other current 
directorships:  

Non-Executive Director of Celamin NL (ASX: CNL) (since 26 October 2012) 

Former directorships 
in last three years:  

Nil 

Committees:  Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee (since 25 February 2014) 

Chairman of the Technical Committee (since 16 October 2013) 

Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee (since 25 February 2014) 

Royston Denysschen – Non-Executive Director (appointed 9 July 2014) 

Experience and 
expertise:  

Royston Denysschen has 18 years’ experience in commerce and logistics in Southern 

Africa.  He has been key to the start-up, development, management and direction of 

successful logistics and peripheral businesses throughout Southern Africa.   

Other current 
directorships:  

Nil 

Former directorships 
in last three years:  

Nil 

Committees:  Nil 

Paul Frederiks – Joint Company Secretary / Chief Financial Officer (appointed 26 October 2012) 

Qualifications: BBus (Accounting), FCPA, FAICD, FGIA, FCIS 

Experience and 
expertise: 

Paul has extensive experience in public company financial and commercial management with 

more than 30 years’ experience in the Australian resources sector.  He has an extensive 

knowledge base in listed public company reporting and compliance, financial modelling and 

forecasting, treasury management, project financing and corporate governance.  Paul has 

previously held Chief Financial Officer positions at Geodynamics Limited and Ross Mining NL 

and has been Company Secretary for Billabong International Limited.   
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Kerry Parker – Joint Company Secretary (appointed 13 August 2014) 

Qualifications: BBus(Accounting), ACA, MAICD, Finsia 

Experience and 
expertise: 

Kerry is a chartered accountant with more than 25 years’ experience in business advisory, and 

financial and commercial roles in Australia and internationally.  

Kerry most recently held the position of Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer with 

ASX listed Inova Resources Limited.  Prior to that Kerry has previously held the roles of 

Managing Director of ASX Listed Panax Geothermal Limited (now Raya Group Limited), and 

Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of Arrow Energy Limited, an ASX listed gas 

exploration, development and production company with a market capitalisation at that time of 

approximately $2.5 billion.  Kerry has also held senior finance positions with CH4 Gas Limited, 

Santos Limited and Downer Group. 

John Shaw – Non-Executive Chairman (resigned 29 October 2013) 

Qualifications: BSc (Geological Engineering), FAusIMM, MCIM, FAICD, SME 

Experience and 
expertise: 

John has over 40 years’ experience in exploration, development and operations of open cut 

and underground mines in Asia, Australia, Africa and Canada.  John was previously Vice 

President of the Australian Operations of Placer Dome Asia Pacific Limited and Managing 

Director of Kidston Gold Mines.   

Stuart Bradley (Brad) Sampson – Managing Director (resigned 4 November 2013) 

Qualifications: BEng (Mining) (Hons) Qld, MBA Deakin, AMP Oxf, MAusIMM, GAICD 

Experience and 
expertise: 

Brad has more than 25 years’ experience as a mining engineer.  He has worked in both open 

cut and underground mine operations and developments in Australia, Southern Africa and the 

Pacific.  He previously held an executive role at Thiess Ltd and has been in general 

management roles with Gold Fields Limited at its St Ives gold mine in Western Australia, at the 

Kloof operation in South Africa, and was General Manager (Papua New Guinea) for Emperor 

Mines Limited.   

Niall Lenahan – Non-Executive Director (resigned 4 November 2013) 

Qualifications: BComm (Hons), FCA (Irl), CA (Aus), MBA (UWA) 

Experience and 
expertise: 

Niall is a chartered accountant with extensive experience in the resources sector.  He has 

served as a director and chief financial officer of ASX and medium sized organisations involved 

in the mineral resource, construction/engineering and shipping/transport industries in 

Australia and overseas.  His most recent executive role was as a director and CFO of Riversdale 

Mining Limited, a company involved in mineral production and development in southern 

Africa.  Niall has worked in companies involved in energy and mining in Australia, Asia and 

Africa and has experience in various commodities, including gold, base metals, industrial 

minerals and coal. 

Gregory Seeto – Company Secretary / Corporate Counsel (resigned 11 October 2013) 

Qualifications: LLB (Hons), BJ, GradDipLP, GradDipACG, ACIS 

Experience and 
expertise: 

Greg is a corporate lawyer with post-graduate qualifications in governance.  Greg is an 

associate member of Chartered Secretaries Australia and is a legal practitioner of the Supreme 

Court of Queensland and the High Court of Australia.  Greg has experience as a senior lawyer 

at a top-tier law firm and as a listings adviser at the Australian Securities Exchange.  
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2. Directors’ Meetings 

The number of board and committee meetings attended by each of the Directors who held office during the 

financial year is as follows: 

Director 
Board 

Committee Meetings 
(1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014) 

ARM R&N TECH 

# Att # Att # Att # Att 

Jeremy Read 44 40 4 4 2 2 2 2 

Ribson Gabonowe 44 39 4 4 1 1 - - 

Russell Luxford 30 30 2 2 2 2 7 7 

Royston Denysschen 
(appointed 9 July 2014) 

- - - - - - - - 

Niall Lenahan 
(resigned 4 November 2013) 

17 16 2 2 1 1 - - 

Stuart Bradley Sampson 
(resigned 4 November 2013) 

17 17 - - - - 3 3 

John Shaw 
(resigned 29 October 2013) 

17 16 2 2 - - - - 

ARM: Audit and Risk Management Committee  

R&N: Remuneration and Nomination Committee  

TECH:  Technical Committee 

#: The number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant 

committee during the year. 

Att:  The number of meetings attended. 

Committee membership 

For the period 1 July 2013 to 25 February 2014, the Board had an Audit and Risk Management Committee and a 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  On 16 October 2013, the Board also adopted a Technical Committee.  

Members acting on each of these committees are:  

 

From 1 July 2013 From 16 October 2013 

Audit and Risk 

Management Committee 

Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee 
Technical Committee 

Chairman Niall Lenahan Jeremy Read Russell Luxford 

Members Ribson Gabonowe Niall Lenahan Stuart Bradley Sampson 

 Jeremy Read Russell Luxford Robert Fulker 

 John Shaw  Robert Cooper 

 
The Technical Committee was formed to provide the Board an opportunity to gain more detailed knowledge of 
technical matters on site.   

On 29 October 2013, Mr John Shaw resigned as Chairperson and Non-Executive Director of the Company.  On 

4 November 2013, Mr Stuart Bradley Sampson ceased his role as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.  

Mr Niall Lenahan also resigned as Director of the Company on that date.  
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On 25 February 2014, each of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee were reconstituted as follows:  

 
Audit and Risk 

Management Committee 

Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee 
Technical Committee 

Chairman Russell Luxford Ribson Gabonowe  Russell Luxford 

Members Jeremy Read  Russell Luxford  Jeremy Read 

 Ribson Gabonowe Jeremy Read  

3. Principal activities and review of operations 

The principal activity of the Company during the year was production at its Boseto Copper Operation in Botswana 

and continued exploration activities in Botswana. 

Project review, strategies and future prospects 

Boseto Copper Operation 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2014, the Boseto operation produced 48,207 tonnes of concentrate 

containing 18,732 tonnes of copper and 628,890 ounces of silver.  This improves on the production results 

achieved in the financial year ended 30 June 2013 in which 37,766 tonnes of concentrate were produced 

containing 14,870 tonnes of copper and 670,752 ounces of silver. 

In the June 2014 quarter, the Company achieved record quarterly copper production of 5,367 tonnes of copper in 

concentrate in the June 2014 quarter, at an average grade of 42.9% and with sulphide recoveries of 90.4%.  These 

results reflect the continued focus on initiatives to increase mined volumes, and to improve recoveries.   

The hanging wall waste stripping campaign at the Zeta pit produced results by delivering ore exposure in the 

March quarter.  Plutus Stage 1 sulphide and transitional ores both achieved improved copper recoveries compared 

to previous Plutus Stage 1 transitional ore benches.  Plutus Stage 1 South Extension delivered a significant amount 

of sulphide and transitional ore to the Run of Mine ore pad in the June quarter.  Plutus Stage 2 commenced 

development during the March quarter and mining activities continued in the June quarter, with a focus on topsoil 

stripping and calcrete removal.   

Concentrate production continued to improve, with production in the June quarter of contained copper in 

concentrate 25% higher and contained silver 27% higher than the March quarter.  The increased metal production 

quarter on quarter was due to higher throughput and improved recoveries from both high grade and transitional 

ores.  Concentrate production improved by 12% compared to the March quarter, despite mill throughput being 

constrained by the outage of a tertiary crusher. 

The June quarter represents the best quarter for Boseto since inception, on a production and unit cost basis, which 

is a significant milestone for the Company.  The quarter also saw record monthly copper production in April 2014.  

The Company has continued to focus on improving management of equipment and the workforce and these 

improvements are reflected in the positive production results.  Optimisation of resources continues to assist in 

improving productivity and operational costs. 

Restructuring at the Boseto Copper Operation 

On 14 January 2014, the Company announced that it was undertaking a restructuring programme at its 100% 

owned Boseto Copper Operation.  The restructuring programme was designed to improve cost competitiveness 

and further enhance production efficiencies.  The restructuring exercise at Boseto affected 85 of the 516 

employees based at the site (15% of the total workforce). 
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Zeta Underground Mine Project 

The Zeta Underground Definitive Feasibility Study review process was completed during the March quarter, with 

capital and operating costs having been reassessed with a modified schedule of physicals and ore production 

consequently generated.   

On 17 April 2014, the Republic of Botswana Government approved an application for an amendment to Mining 

Licence No. 2010/99L to incorporate the Zeta Underground Mine into the Boseto Copper Operation.  This approval 

was an important step in the Company’s strategic direction to unlock underground potential.  

Tender submissions were received in the June quarter for the provision of mining services for the Zeta 

Underground Mine Project.  The tender submissions have been evaluated and detailed discussions are being held 

with the preferred candidate, with the final award of the contract to occur by the end of the September quarter 

(Q1 FY15).  Finalised construction designs for the initial two years of development for the Zeta Underground Mine 

Project are on track for completion in the December quarter (Q2 FY15). 

Commencement of the Zeta Underground Mine Project is dependent upon successfully raising finance sufficient to 

bring it to an operational stage and fund related working capital requirements.  The Company has committed 

under the debt re-profile agreed with lenders, to raise equity on or before 31 December 2014 for this purpose. 

The Company has developed a Cave Management Plan (CMP) and Ground Control Management Plan (GCMP) to 

identify and manage the critical risks associated with the commencement of underground mining at the Boseto 

Copper Operation.  The major critical risks identified are: 

 flooding and mud inrush in the sub-level cave 

 cave subsidence; 

 geotechnical risks associated with the caving assumption; and 

 shortage of skills and expertise within Botswana. 

The CMP and GCMP identify strategies to minimise these risks, including: 

 development of a drainage diversion channel to direct surface flood water away from the underground mine; 

 detailed subsidence modelling and locating mine infrastructure outside of the potential subsidence zone; and 

 engaging an experienced underground mining contractor and implementing a training plan to upskill the local 

workforce. 

Kalahari Copperbelt Exploration 

The Company continued focusing its Kalahari Copperbelt exploration in 3 broadly defined zones: 

 Boseto Zone (targeting Boseto production expansion/mine life extension); 

 Mid Kalahari Zone (targeting new standalone mining operations); and  

 South West Kalahari Zone (targeting new standalone mining operations). 

In July 2013, the Company restated all its Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in accordance with the Australasian 

Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, 2012 Edition (JORC 2012), to take 

into account mining depletion to May 2013 and a previously reported misallocation.   

Details of the Company’s Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves are available on the Company’s website along with 

the Competent Persons Statement. 

On 23 December 2013, Discovery Metals announced new results from drilling at Zeta NE.  On 7 February 2014, the 

Company announced further drilling results at Zeta NE and these results extended the strike length of a higher 

grade copper and silver zone to 1.4 km.  These results are available on the Company’s website.  As at 30 June 2014, 

the Zeta NE drill programme was completed and comprised 43 holes.  These holes primarily targeted the central 
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high grade zone of the deposit to a depth of 150m.  Additionally, preliminary work has begun on the NE Mango 2 

drilling programme and this consists of 106 holes to test the deposit to a depth of 360m vertical over a strike 

length of 1,500m. 

The soil pH testing at Zeta NE and NE Mango 2 was completed in April 2014 as part of an orientation programme 

to determine whether changes in soil pH can be used to identify mineralisation below sand cover, where soil 

geochemistry is ineffective.  

Kraaipan Gold Project 

Only preliminary exploration activity has been conducted to date, including:  

 location of historic drill holes data incorporated into the company’s digital database; 

 completion of regional soil geochemical sampling programme.  A total of 11,400 soil samples have been 

collected and will have geochemical analysis completed; and 

 geological mapping over the outcropping southern portion of the project was completed. 

Dikoloti Nickel Project 

The Dikoloti Nickel Project comprises three prospecting licences covering an area of 283km
2

 surrounding the three 

nickel deposits of BCL Limited (BCL) in the Selebi-Phikwe region of north-east Botswana.  As announced on 

19 March 2014, BCL entered into an agreement with the Company and Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National 

Corporation (JOGMEC), and has commenced work aimed at converting the Dikoloti Nickel Project from a 

prospecting licence into a mining lease in accordance with the terms of the Dikoloti Nickel Project Joint Venture 

Agreement (Dikoloti Agreement).  Under the Dikoloti Agreement, BCL will have the right to acquire a 51% interest 

in the total project if they can accomplish the conversion by 31 December 2014 or such other agreed date.  On 

conversion, JOGMEC would hold approximately 35% and DML would hold approximately 14% of the Dikoloti Nickel 

Project. 

BCL has embarked on a drilling programme to secure more material for metallurgical test work and this test work 

is underway. 

Lobaste Manganese Project, South Botswana  

Seventeen prospecting licences, covering approximately 15,345 square kilometres in southern Botswana are held 

by the Company.  This area is underlain by rocks of the Transvaal Supergroup which extends south-east into the 

Griqualand West Basin of South Africa, where it hosts the Kalahari Manganese Field deposits.   

The Lobatse Manganese Project is a joint venture between DML and JOGMEC focused on exploring for manganese 

and other commodities in southern Botswana.  Under the terms of the Lobatse Manganese Project, JOGMEC is 

required to contribute A$600,000 towards exploration expenditure during the earn-in period which was mutually 

extended by the parties to September 2014.  On completion of the earn-in period, and JOGMEC meeting its 

obligations under the agreement, JOGMEC shall acquire a 67% aggregate equitable interest in the Lobatse 

Manganese Project, which will leave Discovery Metals with a 33% interest.  As at 30 June 2014, JOGMEC has 

accrued a 48% interest from cash already contributed. 

A soil sample programme has been designed to explore the Nnywane As/Mo rich breccia.  A total of 3,664 soil 

samples were collected on the programme.  The lines were nominally spaced at 2km, but also targeted alteration 

zones that had been identified from Landsat interpretation.  All results have been received and interpretation and 

ground checking of the results is in progress. 

A further drilling programme is being developed for the Otse Manganese deposits to develop an understanding of 

the geology, structures and mineralisation.  Ten holes for 2,538m were completed, with 1,198 samples sent for 

geochemical analysis. All results have been received and analysis is in progress. 
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Sustainability 

The Company continued to develop systems to comply with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and the Minerals 

Council of Australia ‘Enduring Value – The Australian Minerals Industry Framework for Sustainable Development’.  

The Company’s Boseto Copper Operation environmental obligations to the Government of Botswana are 

embodied in the Environmental Management Plan (EMP) which formed part of the approved Environmental 

Impact Assessment and the Boseto Mining Licence approval.  These obligations are comprehensive and are subject 

to annual review and reporting to the Government of Botswana. 

In addition, the Company has adopted best practice environmental standards in accordance with the Equator 

Principles and IFC Performance Standards.   

A Community Liaison Office established in Toteng continues to facilitate regular consultation and engagement, 

primarily with local community representatives, affected landholders, local politicians and government agencies. 

Reference group meetings were held regarding the enlargement of the Mining Lease for Zeta NE and the 

extensions of the Toteng Housing Estate and Boseto Operational Camp.   

The 2013 Sustainability Report and GRI Index are available on the Company website, which can be accessed at 

http://www.discoverymetals.com/sustainabilityreports.  

 
  

http://www.discoverymetals.com/sustainabilityreports
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Corporate 

Recapitalisation Proposals  

1. Blumont Recapitalisation  

The Company executed a binding term sheet with Blumont Group Limited for a US$108 million refinancing 

proposal.  This term sheet lapsed on 19 December 2013.  

2. Montsant Partners LLC Recapitalisation  

On 1 April 2014, the Board executed a conditional, non-binding term sheet with Montsant Partners LLC for a 

US$105 million recapitalisation proposal.  On 13 May 2014, the Company advised the market that the 

conditions to the recapitalisation proposal had not been satisfied and as a result, the conditional, non-binding 

term sheet was at an end.  

Debt Re-Profile  

On 19 May 2014, the Company advised the market it had executed a legally binding term sheet (Term Sheet) with 

its Lenders under which the Company’s interest bearing debt would be reduced to US$100m and repayments re-

profiled, subject to the parties entering into definitive, long form documents (Debt Re-Profile).  On 15 July 2014, 

the Company announced that the parties had executed definitive, long form documents and on 21 July 2014 the 

Company confirmed that conditions precedent had been satisfied and that the Debt Re-Profile was effective from 

18 July 2014. The transaction has been recorded within the financial statements effective as of 30 June 2014 in 

accordance with applicable accounting standards. 

Under the Debt Re-Profile: 

 all continuing defaults were waived on execution of the Term Sheet; 

 the Revolving Credit Facility was discharged and no longer exists;  

 the Project Finance Facility was amended and restated in accordance with the Term Sheet; 

 the current gross interest bearing debt owing under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Project Finance 

Facility of approximately US$160.4m (including capitalised interest) was reduced to US$100m (New Balance); 

 the New Balance has a loan term of 9 years (Loan), with interest capitalised for the first 4 years of the term; 

 interest rate is now LIBOR plus 5%, with interest capitalised until September 2018; 

 scheduled principal repayments will be made commencing in year 5 of the Loan; and 

 the parties have agreed to a mechanism that will provide for the lenders to be returned incentive payments in 

addition to repayment of the Loan, up to a maximum aggregate amount of US$20m, commencing after final 

repayment of the Loan. 

Conditions subsequent under the Debt Re-Profile, which if not satisfied would constitute an event of default under 

the facility agreement are: 

 the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Discovery Copper (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited, the borrower 

under the facility agreement, is required to deliver an updated financial model and development plan 

(Business Plan) for the Boseto Operation demonstrating loan repayment and covenant compliance, in a form 

and substance acceptable to the lenders and a lender appointed independent technical expert, by 31 August 

2014.  No later than 20 business days after delivery of the Business Plan the lenders shall deliver to the 

Company an updated repayment schedule in accordance with the Business Plan; this may result in loan 

repayments starting in a period less than 5 years; 

 the Company has committed to raise equity, on or before 31 December 2014, sufficient to finance 

development of the first Zeta underground mine to an operational stage and to support the Company’s 

related working capital requirements.   
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Under the terms of the facility the Company is required to maintain an average cash balance during the ten days 

immediately preceding the last business day of each calendar month of no less than $2.0 million on and prior to 

31 August 2014 and $3.0 million on and after 30 September 2014.  

Placements 

On 19 September 2013, the Company successfully completed a placement to Blumont Group Limited (Blumont) 

raising A$8.7m.  The Company issued 73,047,967 fully paid ordinary shares at the price of A$0.12 per share.  The 

Company agreed to appoint a nominee of Blumont, Mr Russell Luxford, as a Non-Executive Director to the Board of 

the Company.  

On 29 May 2014, the Company successfully completed a placement to Transamine raising A$2.8m.  The Company 

issued 84,005,163 fully paid ordinary shares at the price of A$0.03451 cents per share.  Transamine now holds an 

18.6% stake in the Company, making it the largest shareholder in Discovery Metals.  The Company agreed to 

appoint a nominee of Transamine to the Company’s Board and on 9 July 2014 Mr Royston Denysschen was 

appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director. 

Change of classification on ASX 

The ASX resolved to re-classify the Company from a Mining Exploration Company to a Mining Production Company 

in the December quarter. 

Board changes 

On 25 September 2013, Mr Russell Luxford was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company.   

On 29 October 2013, Mr John Shaw resigned as Chairman and Non-Executive Director of the Company.  Mr Jeremy 

Read assumed the role of Interim Chairman of Discovery Metals in addition to his role as Non-Executive Director.  

On 4 November 2013, the Company advised that Mr Stuart Bradley Sampson had ceased his role as Managing 

Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 31 December 2013.  Mr Robert (Bob) Fulker 

assumed the role of Chief Executive Officer in an interim capacity on 4 November 2014.  Mr Niall Lenahan also 

resigned as Director of the Company on this date.  

On 26 June 2014, Mr Jeremy Read was appointed as Executive Chairman of the Company until 31 December 2014, 

after which the Company will appoint a new Non-Executive Chairman.  

After the financial year end and up to the date of this release, the following Board changes were made.  On 9 July 

2014, Mr Royston Denysschen was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company.  On 11 August 2014, it 

was announced that Mr Paul Frederiks would step down as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary and 

assume his new role as a Non-Executive Director, with effect from the lodgement of the Company’s annual 

accounts near the end of August 2014.  Mr Kerry Parker was appointed as Joint Company Secretary with effect 

from 13 August 2014, and will be appointed as Chief Financial Officer with effect from the lodgement of the 

Company’s annual accounts.  

Major shareholder changes 

Throughout the 2014 financial year, the Company saw Cathay Fortune Investments Limited and Genesis Asset 

Managers LLP leave the register.  The Company saw Transamine Trading S.A. and Blumont Copper Pte Ltd join the 

Company’s register as substantial shareholders.   

Financial 

The Consolidated Group recorded a profit of US$15.0m for the year ended 30 June 2014 (30 June 2013: 

US$224.3m loss). 

The net asset position of the Consolidated Group at 30 June 2014 was US$59.8m (30 June 2013: US$67.7m). 
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The Consolidated Group recorded no impairment (30 June 2013: US$205.7m) on Development, PPE and 

Exploration during the year despite undertaking an impairment review.  The Company considered the relationship 

between its market capitalisation and its book value, among other factors when reviewing for indicators of 

impairment.  As at 30 June 2014, the market capitalisation of the Consolidated Group was below the book value of 

its equity, indicating a potential impairment of the assets of the Boseto Copper Operation.  The recoverable 

amount of the Boseto Copper Operation was determined based on a fair value less cost to sell calculation using 

cash flow projections from financial budgets and forecasts approved by senior management covering a twelve year 

period.  Following such review the Company determined that no impairment was required.   

The Consolidated Group profit comprised a gross loss from mining operations of US$40.0m, administration 

expenses of US$11.7m, interest expense of US$12.0m offset by a net gain on derivatives of US $34.9m and loans 

forgiven by lenders of US$50.4m. 

Business Risks 

The prospects of the Consolidated Group in developing and operating its copper operations in Botswana may be 

affected by a number of factors.  These factors are similar to most exploration and mining/operating companies 

moving through the exploration phase to the operational phase while continuing to explore for additional mineral 

resources. 

• Single Site – Our operations are located only at the Boseto Copper Operation.  This exposes the Consolidated 

Group to a lack of diversity in operational activities which may impact future returns derived by the 

Consolidated Group.  We are also exposed to risk in our operations as all product is currently sold to 

Transamine (one customer), however, we would expect that should Transamine not be able to deliver on its 

obligations other third party customers could be sourced with minimal business interruption. 

• Exploration and Development – There is a risk that the actual mineralisation may be different to the expected 

results from exploration and Ore Reserve and Mineral Resource development.  Adverse movements may 

impact the financial viability of the project going forward. 

• Regulatory and Sovereign – The Consolidated Group operates in Botswana, Mauritius and Australia.  The 

Consolidated Group deals with local regulatory authorities in relation to the operation and development of its 

properties.  There may be adverse changes in the regulatory environment in future periods which may impact 

mining tenure, mine regulation, export regulation, taxation and other regulated activities; all of these 

cumulatively or individually may impact the financial viability of the project going forward. 

• Funding – The Consolidated Group will require additional and/or renegotiated funding to continue the 

operation and development of operations in Botswana.  There is no certainty that the group will have access 

to available financial resources sufficient to fund its obligations and operations going forward. 

• Operations/Development – The Consolidated Group is involved in the ongoing development of the Boseto 

Copper Operation including pending underground operations.  There is a risk that technically the Boseto 

Copper Operation may not be sustained going forward due to failure to deliver economic levels of copper 

production, operating cost levels that do not justify the continued operation of the project, and/or that given 

the remote location, critical supplies such as labour, power and water may not be available or may be 

interrupted. 

• Market – There are numerous factors involved with early stage development and management of the 

Company’s Boseto operation, including variance in commodity price, foreign exchange and labour costs which 

can result in the project being uneconomical. 
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4. Going Concern 

The Company has prepared the 30 June 2014 financial report on a going concern basis.  The Company believes that 

the financial forecasts of the Boseto Copper Operation together with the pending equity raise and completed Debt 

Re-Profile will ensure the Company operates as a going concern for the next 12 months.  

If the Consolidated Group is not able to generate positive cashflow from operations, it may not be able to continue 

as a going concern and realise assets and extinguish its liabilities in the ordinary course of business and at the 

amounts stated in the financial report.   

No adjustments have been made relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and 

classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Consolidated Group not continue as a going concern. 

5. Significant changes in state of affairs 

The Company’s future financial results are dependent on the successful ramp up of the Zeta Underground 

development in conjunction with continued operational improvements to the open pits.  Further information is 

provided in Note 4 to the Financial Statements. 

In the opinion of the Directors there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company that 

occurred during the financial year under review, other than those described in this financial report under “Principal 

Activities and Review of Operations”.   

6. Dividends 

The Directors have not recommended the declaration of a dividend.  No dividends were paid or declared by the 

Company during the current or previous financial year. 

7. Number of employees 

There were 473 (2013: 635) full-time employees employed by the Consolidated Group in Australia and Botswana 

at 30 June 2014.  Other roles are currently undertaken under contract arrangements, or by part-time employees. 

8. Significant events after the balance date 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or 

may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Group, the results of those operations or the state of 

affairs of the Consolidated Group in future financial years other than those noted in Note 29 to the Financial 

Statements. 

9. Future developments 

Other than as referred to in this report, further information as to likely developments in the operations of the 

Consolidated Group and the expected results of those operations would, in the opinion of the Directors, be 

speculative. 

10. Environmental regulation 

The Company’s exploration activities are subject to significant environmental regulations under Botswana legislation. 

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance.  The Board is responsible 

for the regular monitoring of environmental exposures and compliance with environmental regulations. 

The Board believes that the Company has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental 

requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the Company.   

The Company aims to minimise the impact on the environment which results from our operations.  The Company 

believes that all employees, contractors, consultants and persons associated with the Company have to be 

involved in achieving environmental objectives and targets. 
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Each mining operation is subject to particular environmental regulations specific to the activities undertaken at 

that site as part of the licence or approval for that operation.  There are also a broad range of industry and specific 

environmental laws which apply to all mining operations and other operations of the Consolidated Group.  The 

environmental laws and regulations generally address the potential impact of the Consolidated Group’s activities 

on water and air quality, noise, surface disturbance, and the impact upon flora and fauna. 

An important part of the Company’s environmental performance is to identify and track all incidents resulting from 

its operations so that appropriate action can be taken to prevent reoccurrence.  As part of the Company’s 

commitment to open and transparent reporting, all incidents are reported to the relevant Government authorities 

and within publicly released reports.   

The Directors are not aware of any environmental matters which would have a materially adverse impact on the 

overall business of the Consolidated Group. 
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11. Prospecting Licence schedule 

The Consolidated Group has an interest in the following Prospecting Licences, all held in Botswana: 

Project 
Prospecting 

Licence 
Area (Km

2
) Initial Grant date Current Expiry 

Dikoloti Nickel P020/2004 73.0 1-Jul-04 2-Oct-14 

Dikoloti Nickel P021/2004 41.0 1-Jul-04 2-Oct-14 

Dikoloti Nickel P022/2004 169.0 1-Jul-04 2-Oct-14 

Boseto Copper P98/2005 509.0 1-Oct-05 31-Dec-14 

Boseto Copper P99/2005 798.5 1-Oct-05 31-Dec-14 

including 2010/99L Mining lease 20-Dec-10 19-Dec-25 

Boseto Copper P100/2005 514.2 1-Oct-05 31-Dec-14 

Boseto Copper P101/2005 11.0 1-Oct-05 31-Dec-14 

Ngamiland Copper P102/2005 3,331.0 1-Oct-05 30-Jun-15 

Ngamiland Copper P103/2005 133.1 1-Oct-05 30-Jun-15 

Ngamiland Copper P104/2005 285.3 1-Oct-05 30-Jun-15 

Ghanzi Copper 186/2008 804.0 1-Jul-08 30-Sep-16 

Ghanzi Copper 187/2008 894.0 1-Jul-08 30-Sep-16 

Ghanzi Copper 188/2008 634.0 1-Jul-08 30-Sep-16 

Ghanzi Copper 189/2008 271.0 1-Jul-08 30-Sep-16 

Ghanzi Copper 190/2008 760.0 1-Jul-08 30-Sep-16 

Ghanzi Copper 191/2008 927.0 1-Jul-08 30-Sep-16 

Ghanzi Copper 192/2008 638.0 1-Jul-08 30-Sep-16 

D’kar Copper 60/2012 890.5 1-Apr-12 31-Mar-15 

D’kar Copper 61/2012 888.1 1-Apr-12 31-Mar-15 

D’kar Copper 62/2012 740.1 1-Apr-12 31-Mar-15 

D’kar Copper 63/2012 484.1 1-Apr-12 31-Mar-15 

Manganese PL001/2011 483.7 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL002/2011 720.8 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL003/2011 974.8 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL004/2011 950.4 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL005/2011 914.8 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL006/2011 962.4 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL007/2011 933.5 1-Jan-11 * 

Kraaipan Gold PL008/2011 866.2 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL009/2011 982.7 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL010/2011 958.0 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL011/2011 856.3 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL012/2011 983.1 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL013/2011 883.6 1-Jan-11 * 

Manganese PL317/2012 1,000.0 1-Oct-12 31-Dec-15 

Manganese PL318/2012 991.3 1-Oct-12 31-Dec-15 

Manganese PL319/2012 963.6 1-Oct-12 31-Dec-15 

Manganese PL147/2011 920.0 1-Oct-11 30-Sep-14 

A temporary extension to the Dikoloti Nickel prospecting licences has been granted to 2 October 2014 while an 

application for a full two year extension is being processed.  

*Note: Renewal applications for these prospecting licences have been submitted. 
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12. Audited Remuneration report 

The audited remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

A. Overview of the Consolidated Group’s remuneration strategy 

B. Summary of benefits by group and phase 

C. Non-Executive Director remuneration 

D. Executive KMP remuneration policy and overview of incentive plans 

E. Details of remuneration 

F. Service agreements 

G. Share-based compensation 

H. Interests of Key Management Personnel 

I. Additional Information 

This audited remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2014 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the 

Consolidated Group in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and its regulations.  This 

information has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  The 

remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for the Consolidated Group’s key management 

personnel (KMP) during the financial year ended 30 June 2014.  

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the major activities of the Consolidated Group, directly or indirectly, including any 

Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Consolidated Group and other designated senior executives. KMP 

comprise the Chief Executive Officer and his direct management reports (collectively the executive KMP) and the 

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.  

Two KMP appointments were made after the reporting date and before the date the Directors’ and Financial 

Report was issued.  Royston Denysschen was appointed Non-Executive Director (NED) on 9 July 2014 and Kerry 

Parker was appointed Joint Company Secretary on 13 August 2014 and Chief Financial Officer on 29 August 2014. 

KMP Position Period as KMP 

Jeremy Read 

Director – Executive Chairman Commenced June 2014  

Director – Non-Executive Chairman October 2013 to June 2014 

Director – Non-Executive July 2013 to June 2014 

Ribson Gabonowe Director – Non-Executive All financial year 

Russell Luxford Director – Non-Executive Commenced September 2013  

Royston Denysschen Director – Non-Executive Commenced July 2014 

Paul Frederiks Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary All financial year 

Kerry Parker Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary Commenced August 2014 

Robert Fulker 
Chief Executive Officer (interim) Commenced November 2013 

Chief Operating Officer All financial year 

Robert Cooper 
General Manager, Operations Commenced March 2014 

General Manager, Boseto Operations July 2013 to March 2014 

Lawrence Manjengwa General Manager, Boseto Operations  Commenced March 2014 

Stuart Bradley Sampson Managing Director Ceased November 2013 

John Shaw Chairman – Non-Executive Ceased October 2013 

Niall Lenahan Director – Non-Executive Ceased November 2013 
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A. OVERVIEW OF THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP’S REMUNERATION STRATEGY 

Background 

The remuneration governing principles were set by the Board of the Company and are administered by the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee, taking the required advice, input and recommendations from external 

surveys, management and external independent consultants. 

Following a restructure in late 2013, the Board Sub-Committees, including the Remuneration Committee and the 

former Nominations Committee, were reconstituted to ensure compliance with the Company’s Constitution.  On 

25 February 2014, the Board resolved to reconstitute the Remuneration and Nomination Committee to the 

following: 

 Mr Ribson Gabonowe as the Chairperson;   

 Mr Russell Luxford as a Committee Member; and 

 Mr Jeremy Read as a Committee Member.  

The Consolidated Group competes with other companies in the mining industry for senior executives and 

experienced NEDs.  The remuneration structures and levels are set to secure personnel capable of continuing the 

management of the Consolidated Group going forward. 

Remuneration Guiding Principle 

The Consolidated Group’s remuneration guiding principle is to align remuneration with the creation of value for 

shareholders by attracting and retaining employees who will contribute to the Consolidated Group’s success and 

motivating them to achieve outstanding performance against the Consolidated Group’s business objectives.  This 

guiding principle applies to employees at all levels including Directors, NEDs and executive KMP.   

The Consolidated Group is committed to the alignment of remuneration with shareholder returns, with a portion 

of all employees’ remuneration at risk and an increasing portion of ‘at risk’ remuneration for more senior 

positions.  The Consolidated Group’s remuneration strategy is designed to attract, motivate and retain employees 

and NEDs by identifying and rewarding high performers and recognising the contribution of each employee to the 

continued growth and success of the Consolidated Group.  

Key objectives of the Consolidated Group’s remuneration framework are to ensure that remuneration practices: 

 are aligned to the Consolidated Group’s business strategy; 

 offer competitive remuneration benchmarked against the external market and peer group companies; 

 provide strong linkage between individual and Company performance and rewards; and 

 achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders by aligning the interests of executives, 

including employees, with shareholders. 

Remuneration for all executive KMP and other employees comprises: 

 Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) (comprising base salary and statutory superannuation contributions); 

 a level appropriate Short Term Incentive (STI); and 

 a level appropriate Retention and Long Term Incentive (LTI). 

NEDs’ remuneration comprises director fees.   

The structure of remuneration packages for NEDs and executive KMP has had 3 distinct stages reflecting the 

transition of the Consolidated Group since incorporation in 2003 through to becoming a copper and silver 

producer.    



DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
 

 

 20 

1. The exploration only phase – 2003 to 2009.  In return for NEDs accepting low Directors’ fees and 

executive KMP accepting low base salaries, share options were granted at commencement of 

employment at or above the then prevailing market share price.  These options were to align 

management and Directors’ incentives with shareholder interests and reward management and Directors 

for delivering outcomes that resulted in share price growth. 

2. The Boseto project development phase – 2010 to 2012.  Retaining KMP during project development was 

recognised as important to the Consolidated Group’s success.  As in the exploration only phase, limited 

availability of Consolidated Group funding determined it was appropriate to issue shares to a Trust 

Company to be released to NEDs and executive KMP only when specific Consolidated Group milestones 

had been met.  Four tranches, closely aligned to delivery of shareholder value and operational milestones 

were set and approved by shareholders on 22 November 2011.  Three of the four Consolidated Group 

hurdles have been met and vested.  

3. The Boseto Mine Operation and producer phase – July 2012 onwards.  In 2012 the Directors resolved to 

set Directors’ fees at market levels in line with peer producers with no other short or long term incentives 

available to NEDs.  The Consolidated Group installed an annual short term incentive plan and an annually 

awarded retention and long term incentive plan for executive KMP and other managers, vesting in 3 

annual tranches.  The introduction of the incentive plans for KMP was consistent with similar plans 

offered by peer group mining companies operating in the resources sector in Australia and overseas.  On 

7 November 2013, the Directors resolved to suspend the incentive plans due to the Company’s poor 

financial performance and decrease in the share price which necessitated a review of the relevant 

comparator group and overall plan design.  This suspension is only in respect of awards under the 

operations and producer phase incentive plans.   

Role of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board is responsible for reviewing and making 

recommendations to the Board for: 

 the remuneration structure of the Consolidated Group; 

 the remuneration arrangements for the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer and other 

executive KMP; 

 the terms and conditions of long term incentives and short term incentives for the Managing Director 

and/or Chief Executive Officer and other executive KMP (including setting short term incentive targets); 

 the composition of the peer group for rating the Company’s relative total shareholder return, which 

determines two-thirds of the long term incentive award; 

 the periodic (currently annual) salary scale movement for all employees; and 

 the appropriate remuneration to be paid to NEDs. 

The charter for the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is available on the Company’s website. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee takes recommendations from the Managing Director and/or Chief 

Executive Officer for individual executive KMP’s performance and their individual key performance targets for the 

next year, considers relevant salary survey data and obtains advice, where appropriate, from expert remuneration 

consultants.   

Use of Remuneration Consultants 

During the 2014 financial year, no remuneration recommendations, as defined by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), 

were provided by remuneration consultants. 
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Remuneration report approval at 2013 year Annual General Meeting (AGM) 

The 2013 remuneration report received positive shareholder support at the 2013 year AGM with a vote of 93% in 

favour. 

B. SUMMARY OF BENEFITS BY GROUP AND PHASE 

Non-Executive Directors 

Phase Component Details 

Exploration Only Fixed Low directors’ fees 

 STI None 

 
LTI Share options granted at market price or above on 

commencement of directorship 

Project Development Fixed Low directors’ fees 

 STI None 

 
LTI 4 Share tranches based on milestones aligned to 

significant shareholder value added 

Producer Fixed Market directors’ fees 

 STI None 

 LTI None 

 

Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer & Other Executives including executive KMP 

Phase Component Details 

Exploration Only Fixed Low Base Salary 

 STI None 

 
LTI Share options granted at market price or above on 

commencement of directorship 

Project Development Fixed Low Base Salary 

 STI None 

 
LTI 4 Share tranches based on milestones aligned to 

significant shareholder value added 

Producer Fixed Market based  

 
STI  
(Suspended on 7 November 

2013 pending review) 

5 performance areas of safety, production, costs, 

strategic/personal and sustainability 

 

LTI  
(Suspended on 7 November 

2013 pending review) 

Share Performance Rights on relative total shareholder 

return against a peer group plus continued good service, 

vests over 3 equal annual amounts 
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All Other Employees 

Phase Component Details 

Exploration Only Fixed Market based Salary 

 STI None 

 
LTI Up to 12.5% of salary paid as shares subject to 2 year 

continued service vesting period 

Project Development Fixed Market based Salary 

 STI None 

 
LTI Up to 12.5% of salary paid as shares subject to 2 year 

continued service vesting period 

Producer Fixed Market based  

 

STI  
(Suspended on 7 November 

2013 pending review) 

Up to 12.5% of salary paid in cash based on 3 team 

performance areas of safety, production and costs.  

Section leaders can earn double this amount. 

 

LTI  
(Suspended on 7 November 

2013 pending review) 

Up to 12.5% of salary paid as shares subject to 2 year 

continued service vesting period.  Section leaders can 

earn double this amount.  

C. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION 

Objective 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Consolidated Group with the ability to 

attract and retain Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.   

Structure 

As the focus of the Board is on the long-term direction and wellbeing of the Consolidated Group, there is no direct 

link between NEDs’ remuneration and the Consolidated Group’s short term results other than past participation in 

the Consolidated Group project development phase milestone-based Employee and Director Share Plan.   

Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2014 has been limited to the payment of Directors’ fees.  NEDs do not 

receive retirement benefits.  Previously, NEDs have participated in equity-based incentive programmes as 

approved by the shareholders.  Details of previously approved equity-based incentives issued during the 

exploration and construction phases are found later in the report. 

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed 

annually against fees paid to NEDs of comparable companies.  The Board considers advice from external 

consultants and/or the use of relevant sector remuneration surveys when undertaking the annual review process.  

The maximum aggregate remuneration of NEDs is determined by the shareholders in a general meeting. 

Directors’ fees 

The current maximum aggregate remuneration of NEDs is A$800,000 per annum, excluding the fair value of any 

options and share rights granted. 

The annual fees levels in 2014 (with comparative data for 2013) were as follows: 
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 2014 2013 

Position A$ A$ 

Chairman 150,000 200,000 

Other NEDs 75,000 90,000 

Committee fees  

Committee chairman - 13,000 

Committee member - 7,000 

The remuneration paid to each NED for the year ended 30 June 2014 is detailed later in this remuneration report. 

Directors are also entitled to be reimbursed for all Consolidated Group business related expenses, including travel 

on Consolidated Group business, as may be incurred in the discharge of their duties.   

On 22 October 2013, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee resolved to reduce the Non-Executive 

Director fees to A$75,000 (from A$90,000) and the Chairperson’s fees to A$150,000 (from A$200,000).  In 

addition, the Committee resolved to no longer pay committee fees. 

D. EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION POLICY AND OVERVIEW OF INCENTIVE PLANS 

Objective 

The Consolidated Group aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their 

position and responsibilities with the Consolidated Group and aligned with market practice. 

The remuneration arrangements for executive KMP are structured to encourage the successful progression of the 

Consolidated Group’s strategy to add shareholder value, whilst retaining employees of the highest calibre. 

Structure 

Remuneration consists of the following key elements: 

 Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR); 

 Short Term Incentive (STI); and 

 Retention and Long Term Incentive (LTI). 

The amount and relative proportion of TFR, STI and LTI is established for each executive KMP following 

consideration by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of market levels of remuneration for comparable 

senior executive roles.  The Remuneration and Nomination Committee then makes recommendations to the 

Board.  

The maximum grants achievable (expressed as a percentage of TFR), if all performance targets are met, are: 

Role 

Total Fixed 

Remuneration 

(TFR) 

Maximum 

Achievable 

STI grant  

Maximum 

Achievable 

LTI grant  

Maximum 

Achievable Total 

Remuneration 

Managing Director/ 

Chief Executive Officer 
100% 

Normally 75% 

Range: 60% - 90% 

Normally 75% 

Range: 60% - 90% 
250% 

CFO & COO 100% 
Normally 50% 

Range: 40% - 60% 

Normally 50% 

Range: 40% - 60% 
200% 

General Managers 100% 
Normally 40% 

Range: 30% - 50% 

Normally 40% 

Range: 30% - 50% 
180% 

Managers 100% 
Normally 30% 

Range: 20% - 40% 

Normally 30% 

Range: 20% - 40% 
160% 
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On 7 November 2013, the Directors resolved to suspend the incentive plans due to the Company’s poor financial 

performance and decrease in the share price which necessitated a review of the relevant comparator group and 

overall plan design. 

Whilst the normal percentage value of STI and LTI are shown above, the individual entitlement may vary from year 

to year within the range specified.  The total achievable maximum remuneration is constant from year to year for 

each level of employee. 

For the 2014 annual remuneration review, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee did not receive 

benchmarking advice from external remuneration consultants but instead relied on remuneration industry survey 

reports. 

Following its consideration of the above information and analysis, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

then made recommendations to the Board for the executive KMP remuneration.  No remuneration increases were 

made for KMP for the year ending 30 June 2014 due to the financial performance of the Company and no STI or LTI 

payments were made. 

Following setting of remuneration levels for executive KMP, the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer 

sets salaries for other management personnel in line with the Board approved adjustments for the executive KMP. 

Total Fixed Remuneration 

Objective 

The purpose of Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) is to provide a base level of remuneration which is market 

competitive and appropriate.   

Structure 

TFR includes base pay and superannuation contributions.  Executive contracts of employment do not include any 

guaranteed base pay increases and are reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

The TFR is determined using a number of factors, including skills displayed, particular experience of the individual 

concerned and overall performance of the Company.  The contracts for service between the Consolidated Group 

companies and executive KMP are on a continuing employment basis (not fixed term) and the terms of which are 

not expected to change in the immediate future.  Upon retirement, executive KMP are paid employee benefit 

entitlements accrued to the date of retirement.  Any options not exercised within 60 days of the date of any 

termination will lapse. 

In the event of a takeover bid for the Company’s shares reaching a threshold control level of 33% ownership with 

an unconditional bid for at least 50% of the Company’s shares, executive KMP, in the event of termination, are 

paid a percentage of between three and twelve months of their TFR with all remaining unvested options and share 

plan allotments vesting immediately. 

Short Term Incentives (STI) 

Objective 

The objective of awarding an STI is to link the rewards of all employees with the achievement of strategic goals, 

whilst constituting a reasonable cost to the Consolidated Group.   

Structure 

The STI performance measures for the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer and executive KMP have 5 

performance measurement components: safety, operational, financial, strategic/personal and sustainability.  A 

similar structure is applied to all management personnel.  Weighting for each component can range from a 

minimum of 10% up to 50%, with a total of 100% for the five performance components. 
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Performance Component Component Weighting (%) 

Safety 10%- 50% 

Operational 10%- 50% 

Financial 10%- 50% 

Strategic/Personal 10%- 50% 

Sustainability 10%- 50% 

Total Score 100% 

On 7 November 2013, the Directors resolved to suspend the incentive plans due to the Company’s poor financial 

performance and decrease in the share price which necessitated a review of the relevant comparator group and 

overall plan design. 

Within each performance component of the STI, specific targets will be set that are relevant to the individual 

management employee including the executive KMP.  Each STI component will be given a weighting in terms of 

importance for that role to be applied when considering the STI to be earned.  The STI measures for the executive 

KMP are drafted annually by the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer and presented to the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee for consideration and adjustment and recommended for approval by 

the Board.  The STI measures for the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer will be set by the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee annually and approved by the Board.  STI measures for non KMP 

management will be set by the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer.  All STI measures are aligned to 

the budget period, which is the financial year for the Consolidated Group. 

Individual managers who achieve a raw total STI score of less than or equal to 25% will receive no STI award.  

Individual raw scores of 25 – 100% will receive an award equal to their raw STI score.  Pro-rata entitlements are 

applicable for the commencement year based on completed months and performance, and may be awarded for 

‘good leavers’. 

STI for management personnel including executive KMP will be paid in cash during the September quarter each 

year with no deferral or vesting.  Recipients are responsible for paying tax applicable to the STI payment. 

Long Term Incentives (LTI) 

Objective 

Performance linked equity plans are widely considered to be a very effective means of providing incentives to 

attract and retain staff while aligning potential incentive outcomes with the interests of shareholders.  The 

objective of the LTI is to link the long term performance objectives of the Company with the retention of the 

Consolidated Group's employees at all levels.   

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee and Board believes that rewarding the performance of the 

executive KMP with an equity linked incentive programme underpins the employment strategy of attracting and 

retaining high calibre staff capable of executing the Consolidated Group’s strategic plans, and will: 

(a) assist the retention of executive KMP and operational staff; 

(b) enhance the Consolidated Group’s ability to attract quality staff in the future; 

(c) link the rewards of all management employees with the achievement of strategic goals and the long term 

performance objectives of the Consolidated Group; and 

(d) provide incentives to management employees to deliver superior performance that creates shareholder 

value. 
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Types of LTI 

The structure of the LTI has changed to reflect the transition of the Consolidated Group from exploration only 

through to becoming a copper and silver producer.    

Phase LTI Details 

Exploration Only 

(operative from 2003 to 2009) 

Executive Option Plan Share Options granted at market price or 

above on commencement of directorship 

or KMP role. 

Project Development 

(operative from 2010 to 2012) 

Employee and Director 

Share Plan 

4 Share Tranches based on corporate 

milestones aligned to significant 

shareholder value added. 

Producer 

(operative from 1 July 2012) 

Performance Rights 

Plan 

Share Performance Rights on relative total 

shareholder return against a peer group 

and continued good service, that vests in 3 

equal annual instalments. 

The Consolidated Group’s employee share plan (the Employee and Director Share Plan) will continue to be used in 

appropriate circumstances at the Board’s discretion, for non-management staff. 

Exploration Only Phase – 2003 to 2009 – Executive Option Plan  

During the exploration only phase, options were issued to NEDs, executive KMPs and other managers as part of 

their remuneration.  The options were not issued on performance criteria, but were issued to increase goal 

congruence between KMP and shareholders.  

There were no outstanding options at 30 June 2014. 

Project Development Phase – 2010 to 2012 – Employee and Director Share Plan  

NEDs, executive KMP and other managers employed before 31 December 2011 were entitled to participate in the 

Consolidated Group’s Employee and Director Share Plan (which replaced the previous Exploration Phase share 

option plan).  The Employee and Director Share Plan (Share Plan) was approved by shareholders in February 2010 

and linked NEDs, executive KMP and other managers’ incentives to the shareholder objectives in tranches. 

For NEDs, executive KMP and other managers, the shares are subject to the following vesting conditions, and can 

only be released from the Share Plan after these conditions have been satisfied: 

Vesting Conditions Status at Report Date 

tranche one = The processing plant for the Boseto Copper Project has been 

built and commissioned and the plant has achieved an output of 10,000 

tonnes of copper; 

Condition satisfied in 2013 

financial year and Directors 

resolved to allow the tranche 

to vest in 2014 financial year 

tranche two = The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$1.00 per 

share for more than 10 trading days (which need not be consecutive); 
Vested in 2011 financial year 

tranche three = The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$1.50 per 

share for more than 10 trading days (which need not be consecutive);  
Vested in 2012 financial year 

tranche four = The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$2.00 per 

share for more than 10 trading days (which need not be consecutive); 
Unvested 
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Producer Phase – 1 July 2012 onwards – Performance Rights Plan 

The Performance Rights Plan is an equity linked incentive plan established to closely align executives’ rewards with 

performance and the achievement of the Consolidated Group’s growth and strategic objectives for the 2014 

financial year and beyond. 

The Performance Rights Plan provides for the issue of Performance Rights which, upon a determination by the 

Board that the performance conditions have been met and subject to the terms of the Plan, results in the 

executive KMP and other management employees being awarded with fully paid ordinary shares. 

The following is a summary of the key terms and conditions of the Performance Rights Plan. 

1. Participation: The Performance Rights Plan will be available to Eligible Participants – currently executive 

KMP and other management employees. 

2. Exercise Price: The Performance Rights granted under the Performance Rights Plan will be granted at no 

cost to the Eligible Participants.  

3. Shares: Each Performance Right will entitle the Eligible Participant to receive one fully paid ordinary share 

in the Company, if the vesting conditions relating to that Performance Right are satisfied. 

4. Lapse: Unless the Board determines otherwise in its absolute discretion, an unvested Performance Right 

will lapse upon certain circumstances including ceasing to be an employee in the event of fraud or 

dishonest behaviour.  

5. Assignability: Performance Rights are normally not transferable, except with the prior written consent of 

the Board.  

6. Amendments: Subject to the Listing Rules, the Board may from time to time amend or add to all or any of 

the provisions of the Plan, or the terms or conditions of any Performance Right granted under the Plan, 

including vesting conditions. 

7. Vesting: Vesting conditions will be determined by the Board at the time an invitation, inviting Eligible 

Participants to participate in the Performance Rights Plan, is made.  

8. Structure of Performance Rights Award: The award of Performance Rights will be comprised as follows: 

(a) 1/3 of the Eligible Participant’s Performance Rights will be a Service Component; and 

(b) 2/3 of the Eligible Participant’s Performance Rights will be a Performance Component. 

The Service Component 

 The Service Component of the Eligible Participant’s Performance Rights is subject only to the Eligible 

Participant’s continued good service with the Group to the Board’s satisfaction. 

The Performance Component 

 The number of Performance Rights that may be awarded from the Performance Component is 

subject to: 

(i) Organisational performance - measured by a relative total shareholder return (TSR) test 

assessed against a comparator group of between 6 and 10 resource companies in the year 

of award is set out in the following table: 

DML’s relative TSR performance Organisational Performance Component 

Below 25
th

 percentile TSR Zero 

Above 75
th

 percentile TSR 100% 

25
th

 percentile – 75
th

 percentile TSR Straight line increase in vesting between 25% and 100% 
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and 

(ii) Individual performance - assessed against the Eligible Participant’s individual 

performance (STI Rating).  The Organisational Performance will be multiplied by the 

individual STI rating to determine the individual executive’s Share Rights award for the 

performance year. 

Vesting of Performance Rights awarded: 

(a) The Performance Rights awarded as described above will vest annually in 3 equal instalments. 

(b) The Eligible Participant must continue to meet the Service Condition at the time an instalment of their 

awarded Performance Rights is due to vest to be entitled to receive that instalment. 

LTI is paid in share rights, tested once at the end of the annual performance period.  The number of share rights 

granted, after the adjustments of the scores for STI performance and Relative TSR Rating, is calculated by dividing 

the gross cash equivalent of the LTI award (for both Service and Relative TSR) by the daily volume weighted 

average share price in the June month immediately before the start of the performance year. 

LTI Share Rights vest, subject to continued service: 

(i) one third of the award in the September immediately after the end of the performance period; 

(ii) one third of the award in the next September, 15 months after the end of the performance period; and 

(iii) one third of the award in the next again September, 27 months after the end of the performance period. 

Rights can be converted to shares at vesting and retained, or they can be converted and sold on vesting.  Pro-rata 

entitlements are applicable for commencement year and may be awarded for good leavers.  

Recipients are responsible for paying tax applicable to LTI share rights vesting.  

On 7 November 2013, the Directors resolved to suspend the incentive plans due to the Company’s poor financial 

performance and decrease in the share price which necessitated a review of the relevant comparator group and 

overall plan design. 

E. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION 

Amounts of remuneration 

Whilst payments to the NEDs and executive KMP are denominated in either Australian dollars or Botswana pula 

the Consolidated Group's functional currency is United States dollars.  The table below details the reportable 

remuneration in United States dollars using the rate as at the date of payment or the rate as at the date the 

expense has been recognised.  The AUD/US$ average rate for 2014 was US$1.0896.  The AUD/US$ rate as at 

30 June 2014 was US$1.0608. The BWP/US$ average rate for 2014 was US$0.1163.  The BWP/US$ rate as at 

30 June 2014 was US$0.1152. 

The value for Long Term Incentives (LTI) presented in the table below is calculated in accordance with AASB 2 

Share Based Payments and represents securities issued under the LTI equity plans that have been expensed during 

the current year.  Tables also provide full details of the fair value at the grant date for LTI securities issued to 

executive KMP in this year or previous year or to be issued in future reporting periods and the number of securities 

issued.  

The NEDs and executive KMP did not receive any cash incentives as part of the LTI. 

There have been no options issued to the Directors and executive KMP since 2010. 
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No termination payments were paid during the year ended 30 June 2014 with the exception of Stuart Bradley 

Sampson who received a lump sum following resignation.  No retirement payments were made during the year 

ended 30 June 2014. 

Long service leave is not accrued until 7 years’ service has been reached.  

The first Short Term Incentive plan (STI) for the Consolidated Group applied for the year ended 30 June 2013 and 

thereafter.   

The NEDs and executive KMP have not received cash bonuses or other short term benefits during the year ended 

30 June 2014.  NEDs, under the current arrangements, will not be eligible to receive any STI or LTI awards. 
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US$   Short term benefits 
Post-

employment 

Long-term 

benefits 

Termination/

Resignation 

payments 

  

Name Year 

Directors’ 

Fees / Base 

Salary 

Non-monetary 

benefits 

Short term 

incentives 
Superannuation Shares  Total 

Performance 

related (%) 

Non-executive Directors 

Ribson Gabonowe 2014 92,083 - - - 32,492 - 124,575 26% 

  2013 111,543 - - - 39,401 - 150,944 26% 

Jeremy Read
1
 2014 156,021 - - 14,432 32,492 - 202,945 16% 

 
2013 112,981 - - - 39,401 - 152,382 26% 

Russell Luxford
2
 2014 47,022 - - - - - 47,022 - 

 
2013 - - - - - - - - 

John Shaw
3
 2014 61,196 - - - 46,201  - 107,397 43% 

  2013 98,118 - - 16,914 39,401  - 154,433 26% 

Niall Lenahan
4
 2014 33,652 - - - - - 33,652 - 

  2013 141,226 - - - - - 141,226 - 

Gordon Galt
5
 2014 - - - - - - - - 

 2013 188,302 - - - 182,213 - 370,515 49% 

Morrice Cordiner
5
 2014 - - - - - - - - 

 2013 103,566 - - - 91,106 - 194,672 47% 

Subtotal 2014 389,974 - - 14,432 111,185 - 515,591 22% 

  2013 755,736 - - 16,914 391,522 - 1,164,172 34% 

Managing Director 

Stuart Bradley  2014 332,140 879 - 16,310 92,402 770,577 1,212,308 8% 

Sampson
6
 2013 735,384 2,799 - 25,677 78,802 - 842,662 9% 

Executive KMP 

Paul Frederiks 2014 344,163 2,638 - 22,944 - - 369,745 - 

 2013 220,552 1,166 - 18,007 - - 239,725 - 
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US$   Short term benefits 
Post-

employment 

Long-term 

benefits 

Termination/

Resignation 

payments 

  

Name Year 

Directors’ 

Fees / Base 

Salary 

Non-monetary 

benefits 

Short term 

incentives 
Superannuation Shares  Total 

Performance 

related (%) 

Robert (Bob) Fulker 2014 405,347 2,638 - 22,944 - - 430,929 - 

 2013 263,030 1,166 - 15,472 - - 279,668 - 

Robert Cooper
7
 2014 73,421 660 - 5,736 - - 79,817 - 

  2013 - - - - - - - - 

Lawrence Manjengwa
8
 2014 79,010 660 - - - - 79,670 - 

 2013 - - - - - - - - 

Paul Fulton
9
 2014 - - - - - - - - 

 2013 358,799 1,866 110,584 16,431 91,106 246,663 825,449 11% 

Ross Gibbins
10

 2014 - - - - - - - - 

 2013 323,537 2,799 - 25,677 19,701 - 371,714 5% 

Jan Andersen
10

 2014 - - - - - - - - 

 2013 359,485 2,799 - 25,677 - - 387,961 - 

Total  2014 1,624,055 7,475 - 82,366 203,587 770,577 2,688,060 8% 

  2013 3,016,523 12,595 110,584 143,855 581,131 246,663 4,111,351 14% 
1 Appointed Executive Chairman on 26 June 2014. Served as Non-Executive Chairman from 30 October 2013 and prior to that date was a NED. 
2 Appointed 25 September 2013. 
3 Resigned 29 October 2013. 
4 Resigned 4 November 2013. 
5 Resigned 21 May 2013. 
6 Resigned 4 November 2013 – payment made pursuant to a deed of release. 
7 Appointed General Manager Operations on 1 April 2014.   
8 Appointed General Manager Boseto Operations on 1 April 2014. 
9 Retired 28 February 2013. 
10 Not considered KMP from 1 January 2013 as KMP are defined as direct reports to the Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer. With the appointment of a COO, these employees reported to the COO. Remuneration 
disclosed is for the full 12 months.   
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F. SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

Remuneration arrangements for the Chief Executive Officer and executive KMP are formalised in employment 

agreements.  Details of these contracts are provided below. 

Executive Chairman 

In June 2014, Jeremy Read was appointed as Executive Chairman for a fixed term to 31 December 2014 to provide 

greater assistance to the company in realising its short term goals.  Under the terms of the appointment Jeremy is 

entitled to a salary equivalent to A$300,000 per annum.  There are no payments for STI, LTI, notice period, 

termination period, termination or annual leave.  These appointment conditions replace all previously existing 

conditions under prior roles. 

Chief Executive Officer 

The Chief Executive Officer (interim), Robert (Bob) Fulker, was originally employed as Chief Operating Officer 

under an employment contract dated 2 November 2012.  On 4 November 2013, Robert was appointed Chief 

Executive Officer (interim) in addition to his role as Chief Operating Officer. 

Under the terms of the present contract the Chief Executive Officer (interim): 

 receives a TFR of A$475,000 per annum 

 up to a maximum STI opportunity of 50% of TFR; and 

 up to a maximum LTI opportunity of 50% of TFR. 

As at the date of this report the STI and LTI portions are suspended in accordance with a resolution of the 

Directors. 

The Chief Executive Officer’s (interim) termination provisions are as follows: 

 Notice period 
Payment in lieu 

of notice 

Treatment of STI 

on termination 

Treatment on LTI 

on termination 

Resignation 6 months  6 months TFR Award for portion 

of year worked 

None 

Termination for cause None None None None 

Termination in case of death, 

disablement, redundancy or 

notice without cause 

12 months  12 months TFR Award for portion 

of year worked 

Board discretion 

There is no minimum Company shareholding requirement. 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)  

The CFO is employed under an ongoing contract which can be terminated with notice by either party.  The CFO 

receives a TFR plus an STI and LTI each up to a maximum of 50% of TFR.  As at the date of this report the STI and 

LTI portions are suspended in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

The CFO termination provisions are as follows: 

 Notice period 
Payment in lieu 

of notice 

Treatment of STI 

on termination 

Treatment on LTI 

on termination 

Resignation 6 months  6 months TFR Award for portion 

of year worked 

None 

Termination for cause None None None None 

Termination in case of death, 

disablement, redundancy or 

notice without cause 

12 months  12 months TFR Award for portion 

of year worked 

Board discretion 
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As announced on 11 August 2014, and detailed in Note 29 to the Financial Statements, Paul Frederiks will be 

succeeded in the position of Chief Financial Officer by Kerry Parker at the end of August 2014.  The Chief Financial 

Officer terms above are consistent for both contracts. 

Other executive KMP 

All other executive KMPs have ongoing contracts of employment. 

Standard executive KMP termination provisions are as follows: 

 Notice period 
Payment in lieu 

of notice 

Treatment of STI 

on termination 

Treatment on LTI 

on termination 

Resignation 3 months  3 months TFR  Award for portion 

of year worked 

None 

Termination for cause None None None None 

Termination in case of death, 

disablement, redundancy or 

notice without cause 

3 months  3 months TFR Award for portion 

of year worked 

Board discretion 

 

G. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

Exploration Only Phase – 2003 to 2009 - Executive Option Plan  

The terms and conditions of each grant of options during previous reporting periods for executive KMP are as 

follows: 

 Options exercised: nil 

 Options not yet exercised: nil 

No options have been granted since 2010.  During the year ended 30 June 2014, 1,250,000 unquoted options at an 

exercise price of A$0.35 expired. 

Prior to 30 June 2010, options were issued to NEDs, executive KMP and other managers as part of their 

remuneration.  The options were not issued on performance criteria, but were issued to the NEDs, executive KMP 

and other managers to increase goal congruence with shareholders. 

The exercise price was determined by the Board with reference to the market weighted price at the date of offer.  

Options granted under the Executive Option Plan carry no dividend or voting rights.  Options held under the 

Executive Option Plan do not have a right to participate in any share issue of the Company. 

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one fully paid ordinary share of the Company.  

Options vested 

No options over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to executive KMP of the Consolidated 

Group in prior years vested during the year. 

Project Development Phase – 2010 to 2012 - Employee and Director Share Plan (Share Plan)  

No shares were granted to executive KMP under the Share Plan during the current and prior year. 
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Details of the Share Plan grants to KMP in prior years are as follows: 

Grant date 
Estimated 

vesting date 

Actual 

vesting date 

Fair value 

per share 

at grant 

date A$ 

Share price 

at grant date 

A$ 

Number of 

shares 

granted 

Volume 

weighted 

average price 

per share A$ 

% Vested 

2013 2012 

31 Mar 2010 13 Jul 2012 13 Jul 2012 $0.76 $0.75 500,000
1
 $0.76 100% - 

31 Mar 2010 1 Dec 2014 - $0.66 $0.75 500,000 $0.76 0% - 

 1,000,000    

1
 these options vested in a FY13 though were not granted to KMP until the current year 

Shares Issued to Plan Trust Company to be held until Vesting  

Shares for NEDs, executive KMP and other managers are issued to the Plan Trust Company and will be released to 

the executives when vesting occurs, subject to performance and other criteria.  There is no earliest date for vesting 

and the shares are issued and not subject to expiry.   

Producer Phase – 1 July 2012 Onwards – Performance Rights Plan (PRP)  

No performance rights have been granted to executive KMP to the date of this report.   

H. INTERESTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Number of Options held by KMP and their associates 

Financial year ended 30 June 2014 

At 30 June 2014 there were no options held by any KMP and their associates. 

Financial year ended 30 June 2013 

Name 
1 July 

2012 

Exercised 

current year 

Balance 

30 June 2013 

Total Vested 

30 June 2013 

Total 

Exercisable 

30 June 2013 

Total Un-

Exercisable 

30 June 2013 

Stuart Bradley 

Sampson
1
 

1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 - 

Total 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 - 

1
 Options lapsed on 4 November 2013. 

Number of Shares held by KMP and their associates 

Financial year ended 30 June 2014 

Name 
Balance 

1 July 2013 

Share rights 

vested 
Net Change Other

1
 

Balance 

30 June 2014 

Ribson Gabonowe 953,694 250,000
1
 - 1,203,694 

Jeremy Read 1,120,000 250,000
1
 (790,732) 579,268 

Total 2,073,694 500,000 (790,732) 1,782,962 

1
 These options vested in FY13 (Tranche 1) though were not granted to KMP until the current year.  
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Financial year ended 30 June 2013 

Name 
Balance 

1 July 2012 
Share rights vested Net Change Other

1
 

Balance 

30 June 2013 

Ribson Gabonowe 953,694 -  953,694 

Niall Lenahan 50,000 - 150,000 200,000 

Jeremy Read 1,250,000 - (130,000) 1,120,000 

John Shaw 500,000 - - 500,000 

Stuart Bradley Sampson - - 20,000 20,000 

Total 2,753,694 - 40,000 2,793,694 

1 
Net Change Other refers to shares purchased or sold during the year or removed as a result of the officer resigning. 

Number of unvested share rights held by KMP and their associates 

Financial year ended 30 June 2014 

Name 
Balance 

1 July 2013 

Share rights 

vested 

Share rights 

awarded 

during the 

year  

Share rights 

forfeited 

during the 

year 

Balance 

30 June 2014 

Ribson Gabonowe 500,000 (250,000)
1
 - - 250,000 

Jeremy Read 500,000 (250,000)
 1

 - - 250,000 

John Shaw 500,000 - - (500,000) - 

Stuart Bradley Sampson 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 

Total 2,500,000 (500,000) - (1,500,000) 500,000 

1
 These options vested in a FY13 though were not granted to KMP until the current year. 

Financial year ended 30 June 2013 

Name 
Balance 

1 July 2012 

Share rights 

vested 

Share rights 

awarded 

during the 

year  

Share rights 

forfeited 

during the 

year 

Balance 

30 June 2013 

Ribson Gabonowe 500,000 - - - 500,000 

Jeremy Read 500,000 - - - 500,000 

John Shaw 500,000 - - - 500,000 

Stuart Bradley Sampson 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

Total 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 
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I. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

This section of the remuneration report details matters required to be reported by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 

which have not been dealt with elsewhere in this report. 

Risk management products 

The Company’s securities trading policy applies to shares and also to debt securities and financial products issued 

or created over its share rights or options by third parties and associated products which NEDs or executive KMP 

may not procure to limit the risk of a holding in the Company. 

Corporate governance statement 

The Board of Directors of the Company recognise the importance of adhering to the Company’s corporate 

governance framework, and their responsibility to the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they 

are accountable.  The Company’s corporate governance statement is contained within this Directors’ and Financial 

Report and is available on the Company’s website. 

13. Indemnification and insurance of Directors and Officers 

Indemnification 

The Company indemnifies each of its Directors, Officers and Company Secretary.  The Company indemnifies each 

Director or Officer to the maximum extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) from liability to third 

parties, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving lack of good faith, and in defending legal and 

administrative proceedings and applications for such proceedings. 

The Company must use its best endeavours to insure a Director or Officer against any liability, which does not arise 

out of a conduct constituting a wilful breach of duty or a contravention of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  The 

Company must also use its best endeavours to insure a Director or Officer against liability for costs and expenses 

incurred in defending proceedings whether civil or criminal. 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the 

terms of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified 

amount).  No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year.  

The Directors of the Company are not aware of any proceedings or claim brought against the Company as at the 

date of this report. 

Insurance premiums 

The Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and Officers’ liability and legal expenses’ 

insurance contracts for current and former Directors, Executive Officers and Secretaries.  The Directors have not 

included details of the premium paid in respect of the Directors’ and Officers’ liability and legal expenses’ 

insurance contracts; as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract. 

14. Rounding 

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest US$1,000 

(where rounding is applicable and where noted (US$’000)) under the option available to the Company under ASIC 

CO 98/100. 

15. Share Options 

At 30 June 2014 there were no (2013: 1,250,000) unissued ordinary shares of Discovery Metals for which options 

were outstanding as detailed at Note 28 to the Financial Statements. 
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16. Proceedings on Behalf of Company 

No person has applied to the Court for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company, or intervene in any 

proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for 

all or any part of those proceedings.  The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

17. Non-audit Services 

Details on the fees and charges for provision of audit and non-audit services by that firm are included in Note 33 to 

the Financial Statements.  The Audit and Risk Management Committee has developed a policy to ensure that the 

independence of the Company’s auditor is not impaired in providing non-audit services to the Company so that 

both the Company and the external auditor can comply with relevant auditor independence rules which apply in 

the various jurisdictions in which the Consolidated Group operates.   

No Officer of the Consolidated Group who held office during the financial year, and no current Officer, was 

formerly a partner or director of Ernst & Young.   

The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the Audit and Risk Management Committee, is satisfied 

that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence 

for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  The Directors are satisfied that the services disclosed in 

note 33 of the Financial Report did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons: 

 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and 

have been reviewed by the Company to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the 

auditor; and 

 non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as 

set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or 

auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, 

acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2014 has been received and can be found 

on page 93 of this combined report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

Jeremy Read  

Executive Chairman 

 

Brisbane.  Dated 28 August 2014 
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GOVERNANCE REPORT 

The Board of Directors of Discovery Metals Limited (Company or Discovery Metals) is responsible for establishing 

the corporate governance framework for the Company, having regard to the ASX Corporate Governance Council 

Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations with 2010 Amendments (2
nd

 edition) (ASX 

Recommendations).  The Board is committed to best practice corporate governance principles appropriate for the 

size, type and activity of Discovery Metals.   

Details of the main policies of corporate governance adopted by the Company and referred to in this statement 

are available on the Company’s website: www.discoverymetals.com  

In accordance with Listing Rule 4.10.3, this Corporate Governance Statement discloses the extent to which the 

Company has followed the ASX Recommendations.  Where a Recommendation has not been followed, the 

Company will disclose the reasons why the Recommendation has not been followed.  Unless otherwise stated, the 

Company has adhered to the ASX Recommendations for the year to 30 June 2014.  

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Company.  

Functions of the Board and delegations to Management 

Discovery Metals has adopted a Board Charter, which sets out the functions reserved to the Board.  The 

Board Charter is available on the Company’s website.  

The Company also adopted a Delegation of Authority Framework, which clearly sets out the 

authorisations delegated to each level of senior executives, management and staff.  The Delegation of 

Authority Framework is approved by the Board and reviewed on a regular basis.  The Delegation of 

Authority Framework was updated and approved on 19 June 2014.  

Terms of Director’s appointment 

Each Director has entered into a formal letter of appointment with the Company, which sets out core 

terms of the Director’s responsibilities and obligations to the Company.  

Performance Evaluation  

The performance of the Managing Director and/or Chief Executive Officer is reviewed by the Board.  

The performance of Key Management Personnel is reviewed by the Managing Director and/or Chief 

Executive Officer during the year, with a formal process conducted once a year by the Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee.  Such performance is reviewed by comparing performance against pre-

determined measures, examining the effectiveness of the individual and identifying areas for potential 

improvement.   

Further details of how the Company assesses the performance of the Managing Director and/or Chief 

Executive Officer and Key Management Personnel are set out in the Remuneration Report in the 

Company’s Annual Report. 

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add value 

At 30 June 2014, the Discovery Metals’ Board comprised of the following Directors: 

 Jeremy Read (Executive Chairman); 

 Ribson Gabonowe (Independent Non-Executive Director); 

 Russell Luxford (Non-Executive Director). 

Subsequently, the following appointment was made to the Discovery Metals’ Board:  

 Royston Denysschen (Non-Executive Director). 

http://www.discoverymetals.com/
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Discovery Metals considers that its Board holds a diverse mix of skills appropriate for its size, type and 

activity at this point in the Company’s development.  These are set out on the Company’s website and 

also in the Directors’ Report.  The Company intends to undertake an externally facilitated structured 

review in FY15.  

Board Independence  

Ribson Gabonowe is currently the only Independent Non-Executive member of the Discovery Metals 

Board.   

Jeremy Read was also an Independent Non-Executive Director, however, on 26 June 2014 he was 

appointed as the Executive Chairman for the period until 31 December 2014.  After which, the Company 

will appoint a new Independent Non-Executive Chairman on a permanent basis.  

Russell Luxford was appointed as a Non-Executive Director pursuant to the share placement made to 

Blumont Group Limited and Mr Royston Denysschen was appointed a Non-Executive Director pursuant to 

the share placement made to Transamine Trading S.A. 

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were not exercised by the same person.  

The current Board composition does not comply with the ASX Recommendations but the Company 

considers that the current composition of the Board is appropriate given the Company’s circumstances 

and the share placements made to Blumont Group Limited and Transamine Trading S.A. As the proposed 

convertible note transaction with Blumont Group Limited did not proceed, the Company considers that 

Russell Luxford is an Independent Non-Executive Director for the year commencing 1 July 2014. 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

The Company has a Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  Refer to Principle 8 for a summary of the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  

Conflict of interest 

Directors are required to keep the Company informed, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could 

potentially conflict with their duty to the Company.  Further, Directors are required to disclose any new 

interests that could potentially conflict with their duty to the Company prior to each Board meeting.  

Where the Board believes a significant conflict exists, the Director concerned does not receive the 

relevant Board papers, and is not present at the meeting whilst that item is considered.  

Board Induction  

The Company has a Board Induction Pack to assist new Directors in familiarising themselves with the 

Company.  This is updated on an as needed basis.  

Independent Professional Advice 

Each Director has a right to access all relevant Company information and the Company’s executives.  

Directors have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities as Directors, to seek 

independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.  Prior approval of the Chairperson is 

required, which will not be unreasonably withheld.  

Further, the Company has entered into Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each Director and 

Officer of the Company.  

Board, Committee and Director Review 

The Board is committed to periodically reviewing the Board, its Committees and the Directors’ 

performance and effectiveness.  The Board has made some changes to the structure of committees in the 

year ended 30 June 2014, but is further committed to an externally facility structured review in 2015.  
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Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

Code of Conduct 

Discovery Metals has adopted a Code of Conduct to guide executives, management and employees in 

carrying out their duties and responsibilities.  The Code of Conduct sets out the principles and standards 

which the Board, management and employees of the Company are expected to adopt when dealing with 

each other, shareholders and the community as a whole.  

The Code of Conduct is available on the Company’s website.  

Diversity and Equal Opportunity  

Discovery Metals has adopted a Diversity and Equal Opportunity Policy, a copy of which is available on the 

Company’s website.  

The Company acknowledges the expectation to address gender diversity within the Company.  

In light of the type, size, attributes of the industry, the activities of the Company and the Company’s 

current operating context, the Board does not currently consider it appropriate to set a quota based 

target for the proportion of women to sit on the Board or to hold senior executive positions.  

The Company will revisit this statement in 12 months’ time and/or when any applicable vacancy becomes 

available.  

In the event that a future vacancy arises, the Company will proactively:  

1) establish and select from a diverse range of candidates, including female candidates; and 

2) make a decision based on the merit of the candidates.  

Regarding gender diversity in the Company for the current reporting period to 30 June 2014, the 

Company had: 

 No female directors out of a total of 4 directors; 

 No females holding senior executive positions out of a total of 4 senior executive positions (Chief 

Executive Officer (interim)/Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, General Manager 

Operations and General Manager Boseto Operations); 

 51 female employees out of a total of 473 employees in the Company.  

Securities Trading Policy 

Discovery Metals has adopted a Securities Trading Policy which specifies when Directors, employees, their 

related parties and other people associated with the Company and its subsidiaries may deal in Discovery 

Metals’ securities.  

Dealing in the Company’s securities is not permitted at any time during a closed trading period, or whilst 

in possession of inside information.  

The Securities Trading Policy is available on the Company’s website.  

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 

Following the Board Restructure, the Board reconstituted the Audit and Risk Management Committee 

(ARM Committee).  

The ARM Committee has a formal charter, which is available on the Company’s website.  The ARM 

Committee currently comprises: 
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 Russell Luxford (Chairman); 

 Ribson Gabonowe; and 

 Jeremy Read. 

The ARM Committee is comprised of the Executive Chairman and an Independent Non-Executive Director, 

and is chaired by a Non-Executive Director.  All members of the ARM Committee have knowledge of 

finance and accounting practices as well as risk management practices (see details of each ARM 

Committee Member’s respective skills and experience in the Directors’ Report).  

The current composition of the ARM Committee does not comply with the ASX Recommendation in that a 

majority of members are not independent but the Company considers the current composition is 

appropriate given the Company’s circumstances. 

The ARM Committee meets as required, but at a minimum at least twice a year.  The Chief Executive 

Officer (interim)/Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer are invited to attend the ARM 

Committee meetings.  

Auditors 

The Board and ARM Committee also, to a certain extent, rely on the auditors (Ernst & Young) to ensure 

compliance with relevant accounting standards, and give full co-operation to its auditors without 

absolving itself of its responsibility.  Where appropriate, the Board and the ARM Committee engage 

independent experts or professional advisors to assist with the identification and/or management of any 

key risk areas identified.  

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 

Continuous Disclosure  

Discovery Metals has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy, which is available on the Company’s 

website.  

Discovery Metals is committed to providing up-to-date information to its shareholders and the broader 

investment community in accordance with its continuous disclosure obligations under the ASX Listing 

Rules, the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and the Botswana Stock Exchange Listing Rules.  

The Chief Executive Officer has primary responsibility for ensuring the market is properly informed.  

JORC 

In accordance with Listing Rule 5.6 and the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code), Discovery Metals has procedures 

in place to ensure it obtains the relevant competent person’s signoff in relation to the disclosure of 

exploration results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves.  In July 2013, the Company restated its Ore 

Reserves and Mineral Resources in accordance with the 2012 Edition of the JORC Code.  

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 

Shareholder Communications 

Discovery Metals has adopted a Shareholder Communications Policy, a copy of which is available on the 

Company’s website. 

Discovery Metals aims to ensure that its shareholders, on behalf of whom the Board acts, are informed of 

all information necessary to assess the performance of the Directors and the Company.  Information is 

communicated to shareholders and the market through:  

 the Annual Report; 
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 other periodic reports (Half Year and Quarterly Reports), which are lodged through the ASX/BSE and 

are available for shareholder scrutiny; 

 other announcements made in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules; 

 special purpose information announcements issued to shareholders, as appropriate; 

 the Annual General Meeting and other meetings, as appropriate; 

 the Company’s website.  

Discovery Metals Email Alert Service 

Discovery Metals’ shareholders and potential investors are encouraged to sign up to the Discovery Metals 

Email Alert Service. 

General Meetings 

Discovery Metals’ shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM).  

Shareholders can view the Chief Executive Officer’s AGM presentation on the Company’s website.  

Shareholders are given the opportunity to ask questions at the AGM.  The external auditor attends the 

AGM and is available to answer questions in relation to the conduct of the audit.  

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 

Audit and Risk Management Committee  

Refer to Principle 4 above for a summary of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

Risk Management Policy 

Discovery Metals has also adopted a Risk Management Policy, a copy of which is available on the 

Company’s website.  

The Company has designed and implemented a risk management and internal control system to manage 

the Company’s material business risks.  It is intended that the Board and ARM Committee receive regular 

reports from management in respect of the effectiveness of the Company’s material business risks. 

Section 295A Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 

The Board receives assurances from the Discovery Metals’ Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 

Officer that any declaration as to the financial records and statements made pursuant to section 295A of 

the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) has been founded on a system of risk management and internal controls 

and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly  

Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

The Board has a Remuneration and Nomination Committee (R&N Committee).  The R&N Committee 

currently comprises: 

 Ribson Gabonowe (Chairman); 

 Russell Luxford; and 

 Jeremy Read. 

The R&N Committee is comprised of a Non-Executive Director and Executive Chairman and is chaired by 

an Independent Non-Executive Director.  The R&N Committee meets as required, but at a minimum at 

least twice a year.  
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The current composition of the R&N Committee does not comply with the ASX Recommendation in that a 

majority of members are not independent but the Company considers the current composition is 

appropriate given the Company’s circumstances. 

Remuneration Review 

The remuneration levels of Directors and senior executives are reviewed by the R&N Committee and 

approved by resolution of the Board (with abstentions from relevant Directors where there is a conflict of 

interest).  Where the Board or R&N Committee considers that particular expertise or information is 

required, appropriate external advice may be taken and reviewed prior to a final decision by the Board.  

The Board policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for time, commitment and 

responsibilities.  The Board determines payments to the Non-Executive Directors and reviews their 

remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability.  Independent external advice 

is sought when required.  

Non-Executive Director Fees 

The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors is subject to 

approval by shareholders.  Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the 

Consolidated Group.  However, to align Directors’ interest with shareholder interest, the Directors are 

encouraged to hold shares in the Company. 
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  Note 
2014 2013 

US$’000 US$’000 

ASSETS 
   

CURRENT ASSETS 
   

Cash & cash equivalents 9 4,582 21,310 

Trade & other receivables 10 7,151 11,286 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 11 1,384 706 

Inventories 12 12,084 14,751 

Other financial assets 13 - 17,621 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 
 

25,201 65,674 

    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

   
Property, plant and equipment 14 164,986 179,278 

Deferred development 15 1,101 - 

Exploration and evaluation phases – at cost 16 10,095 8,384 

Intangible assets 17 809 878 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 

176,991 188,540 

    
TOTAL ASSETS 

 
202,192 254,214 

    
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

   
Trade & other payables 19 26,093 27,286 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 13 - 150,851 

Other current financial liabilities 13,26 291 708 

Provisions 20 1,454 1,873 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

27,838 180,718 

    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

   
Other financial liabilities 13,26 - 291 

Deferred tax liability 6 - - 

Provisions 20 5,026 5,443 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 13 109,561 - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

114,587 5,734 

    
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

 
142,425 186,452 

    
NET ASSETS 

 
59,767 67,762 

    
EQUITY 

   
Issued capital 21 277,854 267,285 

Reserves 22 43,380 76,946 

Accumulated losses 23 (261,467) (276,469) 

TOTAL EQUITY 
 

59,767 67,762 

 
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Note 

2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Revenue from continuing operations 5 155,066 - 

Mine operating costs  (160,648) - 

Gross loss from mining operations  (5,582) - 

    

Other revenues  5 328 89 

Administration expenses 5 (11,746) (23,061) 

Share based payments  (311) (682) 

Gain / (loss) on foreign exchange  (2,042) 165 

Net realised gain on derivatives  - 5,041 

Loans forgiven  50,383 - 

Interest expense  (12,022) (3,572) 

Impairment expense  - (205,713) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense  19,008 (227,733) 

Income tax expense 6 4,006 (3,453) 

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense  15,002 (224,280) 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit and loss: 

 
- - 

Net pre-tax movement on commodity forward 
contracts 

 
(43,585) (8,367) 

Income tax effect  9,589 9,764 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  (33,996) 1,397 

    

Profit/(loss) attributable to members of the 
Consolidated Group 

 
15,002 (224,280) 

    

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
members of the Consolidated Group 

 
(18,994) (222,883) 

    

Profit/(loss) per share:    

Basic & diluted ordinary profit/(loss) per share 
attributable to ordinary equity holders (cents 
per share) 

8 2.73 (46.58) 

 
The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Issued 
Share 

Capital 
US$'000 

Accumulated 
(Losses) 
US$'000 

Hedging 
Reserve 
US$'000 

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserve 
US$'000 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 
US$'000 

Total 
 US$'000 

       
Balance at 30 June 2012 215,405 (52,189) 48,363 13,471 13,197 238,247 

Currency translation 
differences 

- - - - - - 

Hedging reserves - - 1,397 - - 1,397 

(Loss) for the year - (224,280) - - - (224,280) 

Shares issued during the year 53,933 - - - - 53,933 

Transaction costs for shares 
issued 

(2,054) - - - - (2,054) 

Cost of share based payments - - - 519 - 519 

Balance at 30 June 2013 267,284 (276,469) 49,760 13,990 13,197 67,762 

Currency translation 
differences 

- 
- 

- - - - 

Hedging reserves - - (33,996) - - (33,996) 

Profit for the year - 15,002 - - - 15,002 

Shares issued during the year 10,924 - - - - 10,924 

Transaction costs for shares 
issued 

(355) - - - - (355) 

Cost of share based payments - - - 430 - 430 

Balance as 30 June 2014 277,853 (261,467) 15,764 14,420 13,197 59,767 

 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Note 

2014 
US$’000 

2013 
US$’000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts from customers  135,041 101,982 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (157,739) (37,994) 
Interest received  43 89 
Hedge settlements  15,001 59,594 
Interest paid  - (1,719) 

Net cash used in operating activities 30 (7,654) 121,952 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payments for exploration  (2,727) (9,016) 
Purchase of plant and equipment and mine 
development cost 

 (14,761) (140,488) 

Proceeds from asset disposals  430 - 
Payment for intangibles 17 - (322) 
Proceeds from joint venture party  456 - 

Net cash used in investing activities  (16,602) (149,826) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from borrowings  - 25,000 
Proceeds from issue of shares  10,924 53,812 
Share issue costs  (346) (2,054) 
Payment of finance lease liabilities  (864) (432) 
Interest paid on borrowings  (2,926) (12,589) 
Payments to borrowings  - (75,067) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  6,788 (11,330) 

    
Net increase (decrease) in cash held  (17,468) (39,204) 
Cash at the beginning of the period  21,310 60,308 
Effect of exchange rates  740 206 

Cash at the end of the period 9 4,582 21,310 

 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTE 1:  CORPORATE INFORMATION 

The financial report of Discovery Metals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2014 was authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 28 August 2014. 

Discovery Metals Limited is a for profit company limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in Australia whose 
shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) and the Botswana Stock Exchange (BSE).  
The registered office of Discovery Metals Limited is Level 23, 333 Ann Street, Brisbane, Queensland, 4000, 
Australia.  The principal activities involve the acquisition, exploration, development, mining and initial processing 
of base and precious metals. 

NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out 
below.  These accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.   

Basis of Preparation 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  The financial report has been prepared on 
a historical cost basis, except where otherwise disclosed.  The financial report also complies with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) including interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB).   

The financial report is presented in United States dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars (US$’000) unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of all entities which the 
Company controls.  Control is established by reference to whether the Company has the ability to hold decision-
making power over the relevant activities of the investee, has rights to variable returns from the investee and can 
use its decision-making power to affect the variable returns. 

The effects of all transactions between entities in the Consolidated Group are eliminated in full.  Where control of 
an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the consolidated statements of income from 
the date on which control commences.  Where control of an entity ceases during a financial year its results are 
included for that part of the year during which control exists.  A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 31 to 
the Financial Statements. 

(b) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 

Functional and presentation currency 

The Consolidated Group’s reporting currency and the functional currency of its operations is the United States 
dollar as this is the principal currency of the economic environments in which the Consolidated Group operates.  

The functional currency is the principal currency that influences sales prices denominated and settled; labour, 
material and other costs and the one which most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying 
transactions, events and conditions.   

Transaction and balances 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies (currencies other than the functional currency) are translated into 
the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between the foreign 
currency and the functional currency at the date of the underlying transaction.  Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Non-monetary items are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency by 
applying the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined 
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NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term 
deposits that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value with an original maturity of three months or less.  For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. 

(d) Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade receivables, which generally have 3-60 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for impairment.  Collectability 
of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Individual debts that are known to be uncollectible are 
written off when identified.  An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the 
Consolidated Group will not be able to collect the receivable.  Financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments 
or debts more than 60 days overdue are considered objective evidence of impairment.  The amount of the 
impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.  Receivables with maturities greater than 12 months after the 
reporting period are classified as non-current assets.  Other receivables are initially measured at fair value then 
subsequently at amortised cost, less an allowance for impairment. 

(e) Inventories 

Net realisable value tests are performed at each reporting period and represent the estimated future sales price of 
the product based on prevailing spot metals prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs to complete 
production and bring the product to sale. 

Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, the number 
of contained copper pounds and silver ounces based on assay data, and the estimated recovery percentage based 
on the expected processing method.  

Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. 

(f) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure related to areas of interest is capitalised and carried forward to the extent 
that: 

(i) Rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 

(ii) (a) Costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area 

of interest or alternatively by sale; or 

(b) Where activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, active and 

significant operations in, or in relation to, the areas are continuing. 

Such expenditure consists of an accumulation of acquisition costs and direct net exploration and evaluation costs 
incurred by or on behalf of the Consolidated Group, together with an appropriate portion of directly related 
overhead expenditure, but does not include general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific 
connection with a particular area of interest, which is expensed in the year it is incurred. 

Property acquisition costs relating to exploration properties and expenditures incurred on properties identified as 
having development potential are deferred as mine development costs on a project basis until the viability of the 
project is determined. 

If, after management review, it is determined that the carrying amount of an exploration property is impaired, that 
property is written down to its estimated fair value.  An exploration property is reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

When an area of interest is abandoned, any expenditure carried forward in respect of that area is written off in the 
year in which the decision to abandon the area is made. 
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NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(g) Deferred Development Expenditure 

Deferred Development - Mining Properties 

Mine properties comprise the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation, acquisition and development 
expenditure, incurred by or on behalf of the Consolidated Group, in relation to areas of interest in which mining of 
a mineral resource is commencing. 

Deferred development expenditures are capitalised to the extent costs are incurred to obtain access to proved and 
probable reserves and to provide facilities for extracting, treating, gathering, transporting, storing the minerals and 
bring the property to commercial production.  Exploration and Evaluation assets are reclassified to deferred 
development when evaluation procedures have been completed. These assets are tested immediately prior to 
reclassification.   

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a mine property after the start of production, 
such expenditure is carried forward as part of the mine property only when substantial future economic benefits 
are likely to be realised, otherwise such expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production. 

Amortisation of Mine Property costs is provided on the unit-of-production method with separate calculations 
being made for each project area.  The basis of amortisation is recoverable copper in Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves included in the projects life-of-mine plan.  Changes in the Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves affecting 
unit-of-production calculations are dealt with prospectively over the revised remaining life of mine. 

The net carrying value of each mine property is reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  The carrying amount is compared to discounted cash 
flows.  Where the carrying amount exceeds these cash flows, the carrying values are written down to fair value.   

Deferred Development - Stripping 

Stripping costs (overburden removal costs) incurred during the production phase are generally considered to 
create two benefits, being either the production of inventory or improved access to the ore to be mined in the 
future. Where the benefits are realised in the form of inventory produced in the period, the production stripping 
costs are accounted for as part of the cost of producing those inventories. Where production stripping costs are 
incurred and the benefit is improved access to ore to be mined in the future, the costs are recognised as a non-
current asset, referred to as a stripping activity asset. 

AASB Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs now provides specific guidance on how to account for production stripping 
costs. It requires such costs to be capitalised where certain recognition criteria are met. The entity recognises a 
stripping activity asset if stripping costs relate to removing overburden that is more than 12 months in advance of 
the ore reserves the overburden relates to.  Significant judgement is required to distinguish between development 
stripping and production stripping and to distinguish between the production stripping that relates to the 
extraction of inventory and what relates to the creation of a stripping activity asset. 

The stripping activity asset is initially measured at cost, which is the accumulation of costs directly incurred to 
perform the stripping activity that improves access to the identified component of ore, plus an allocation of 
directly attributable overhead costs. 

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment  

The cost of each item of buildings, fixed plant, mobile machinery and equipment is written off over its expected 
useful life.  Either the units-of-production or straight-line method may be used.  The unit-of-production basis 
results in an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the recoverable Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves.  Each item’s economic life has due regard to both its own physical life limitations and to present 
assessment of recoverable Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves of the mine property at which the item is located, 
and to possible future variations in those assessments.  Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a regular 
basis for all mine buildings, fixed plant and mobile machinery and equipment, with annual reassessments for major 
items. 
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NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

The expected useful lives are as follows: 

• mine buildings – the shorter of applicable mine life on units-of-production basis and 15 years; 

• fixed plant – the shorter of applicable mine life on units-of-production basis and 15 years; 

• mobile machinery and equipment – the shorter of applicable useful life and seven years, depending on 

the nature of the asset. 

Major spare parts purchased specifically for particular plant and equipment are included in the cost of the plant 
and equipment and are depreciated over the expected useful life of the item of plant and equipment. 

The Consolidated Group reviews property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  The carrying amount is compared 
to discounted cash flows.  Where the carrying amount exceeds these cash flows, the carrying values are written 
down to fair value.   

Construction in progress is accumulated and carried forward at cost until the construction is complete.  On 
completion the asset is transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment and is amortised 
over its expected useful life.  Costs associated with the commissioning of an asset are capitalised until the 
commissioning has been completed. 

(i) Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.   

Leases of plant and equipment under which the Consolidated Group assumes substantially all the risks and 
benefits incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases.  Other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised, with a lease asset and a lease liability equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments determined at the inception of the lease.   

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability.  The finance 
charge component within the lease payments is expensed.  Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the 
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the 
Consolidated Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  Payments made under operating leases 
are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative 
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property. 

(j) Intangible Assets 

Costs incurred in developing information technology systems and acquiring software are capitalised as intangible 
assets.  Costs capitalised include external costs of materials and services and the cost of employee benefits.  
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life, ranging from three to seven years. 

(k) Impairment of Assets 

Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets (other than inventories) are reviewed at each balance 
date for indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Where there is an indication that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable an impairment test is completed. 

Impairments of assets are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income whenever the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable value.  In determining recoverable value, reasonable and supportable future 
cash flow projections of the economic conditions that are expected to exist over the remaining life of each asset 
are developed.  The recoverable amount is measured as the higher of fair value less costs to sell (FVLCS) and value 
in use.  FVLCS is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash generating unit in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.  Value in use is calculated by 
discounting future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For The Year Ended 3 0 June 2014  
 

 53 

NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(l) Capitalisation of Interest and Financing Costs 

Interest and other financing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.  To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically 
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation on that 
asset is determined as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period.   

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its 
intended use or sale are substantially complete.  Interest earned on the temporary investment of borrowed funds 
is deducted from interest paid on the borrowed funds in arriving at the amounts so capitalised.  These costs are 
amortised on the same basis as the qualifying asset. 

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation shall be determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the 
expenditures on that asset.  The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to 
the borrowings of the entity that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for 
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. 

(m) Mine Rehabilitation and Environmental Expenditure 

A provision is raised for anticipated expenditure to be made on mine rehabilitation to be undertaken after mine 
closure.  These costs include the costs of dismantling and demolition of infrastructure or decommissioning, the 
removal of residual material and the remediation of disturbed areas.  Community requirements and long-term 
land use objectives are also taken into account.  The provision is raised when the asset is installed and the 
ground/environment is disturbed at the production location. 

The amount of any provision recognised is the full amount that has been estimated based on current costs plus 
inflation required to settle present obligations, discounted using a pre-tax risk free nominal discount rate that 
matches the cash flows.  Although estimates of future costs are reassessed annually, given the likely prolonged 
period to mine closure, it is possible that estimates of ultimate rehabilitation and environmental liabilities could 
change as a result of changes in regulations, the extent of environmental remediation required and the means of 
reclamation or cost estimates. 

When the liability is initially recorded, a corresponding asset which represents future economic benefit arises and 
is capitalised into the cost of the related asset.  At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is re-measured in 
line with changes in discount rates and timing or amounts of the costs to be incurred.  Rehabilitation provisions are 
adjusted for changes in estimates.  Adjustments to the estimated amount and timing of future rehabilitation cash 
flows are a normal occurrence in light of the significant judgments and estimates involved.  Changes in the liability 
relating to mine rehabilitation obligations are added to or deducted from the related asset, other than the 
unwinding of the discount which is recognised as a finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
Changes to capitalised cost result in an adjustment to future depreciation charges.  For closed sites, changes to 
estimated costs are recognised immediately in other expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(n) Trade and Other Payables 

Payables include liabilities and accrued expenses owing by the Consolidated Group which are unpaid as at the end 
of the reporting period.  The amounts are initially recorded at the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the 
future for goods and services received and then subsequently at amortised cost.  The amounts are unsecured and 
are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(o) Provisions and Employee Benefits 

Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

When the Consolidated Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income net of any reimbursement. 
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NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(o) Provisions and Employee benefits (continued) 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation at the reporting date.  The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The increase in the 
provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs. 

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date.  They 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit 
method.  Consideration is given to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, 
and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 

(iii) Defined contribution superannuation funds 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in profit 
and loss as they are incurred. 

(p) External debt 

External debt instruments are initially recognised at fair value, net of debt issuance costs incurred.  Debt 
instruments are subsequently valued at amortised cost.  Debt issue costs are included in the balance of the 
underlying debt and amortised using the effective interest rate method. 

(q) Financing costs 

Financing costs include interest payable on borrowings, calculated using the effective interest rate method, finance 
charges in respect of leases, exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowing to the extent that they 
are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs and differences relating to the unwinding of the discount of assets 
and liabilities measured at amortised costs. 

Financing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, unless they relate to a 
qualifying asset.  Financing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the 
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.   

Financial income is recognised as it accrues taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

(r) Income Tax 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax charges and deferred tax movements less any 
movements taken directly to other comprehensive income. 

The current tax expense for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income.  Taxable profit differs 
from profit as reported in the consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible.  The Consolidated Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences, and deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised.   
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NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(r) Income Tax (continued) 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities and current tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 
right to set off and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Consolidated 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

(s) Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Consolidated Group and can be reliably measured. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when there has been a transfer of risks and rewards to the customer 
and no further processing is required by the Consolidated Group, the quality and quantity of the goods has been 
determined with reasonable accuracy, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable.  The point 
at which risk and title passes for the majority of the Consolidated Group’s commodity sales is upon receipt of the 
holding certificate when the commodity is delivered for shipment.   

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.  This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable.   

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established.   

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) or Value Added Tax (VAT). 

(t) Goods and Services Tax (GST) or Value Added Tax (VAT) 

Revenues, expenses and assets of operations are recognised net of the amount of associated GST/VAT, unless the 
GST/VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 
the acquisition of the asset or part of the expense.  Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of 
GST/VAT receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxing authority 
is included with receivables or payables on the Statement of Financial Position.  Cash flows are presented on a 
gross basis.  The GST/VAT components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow.  Commitments and 
contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

(u) Equity settled compensation 

The Consolidated Group operates equity-settled option plans for key management personnel (KMP) comprising 
Directors and some executive staff.  The fair value of the equity to which KMP become entitled is measured at 
grant date and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to an equity 
account.  The fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price.  The fair value of options is ascertained 
using a Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions.  The number of shares and 
options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at each reporting date such that the amount recognised for 
services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity 
instruments that eventually vest.  Grants of shares are valued using a Monte-Carlo simulation methodology. 

(v) Issued Capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, 
other than in connection with a business combination, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.   
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NOTE 2:  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(v) Issued Capital (continued) 

Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchase the Company’s contributed equity (share buy-backs), the 
consideration paid including any attributable incremental external costs net of income taxes is deducted from total 
shareholders’ equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled or transferred.  Where such shares are 
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders’ equity. 

(w) Operating segments 

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of 
the same entity), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision makers to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete 
financial information is available.  This includes start-up operations which are yet to earn revenues.  Management 
will also consider other factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and the 
level of segment information presented to the Board of Directors.  Operating segments have been identified based 
on the information provided to the chief operating decision makers – being the executive management team and 
the Board of Directors.  The Company continuously reviews the progress of its various exploration projects in 
Botswana and allocates the projects to operating segments as to their relevant stage of development that is 
whether the project is in exploration, development or production stage.  It is on this basis that the executive 
management team and the Board of Directors makes decisions about the allocation of resources and assesses the 
Company’s performance.  The Dikoloti Nickel and Lobatse Manganese projects, both in joint exploration 
agreement (JEA) with Japan Oil, Gas and Metals National Corporation (JOGMEC) are considered as operating 
segments along with the Boseto Copper Operation located within the Kalahari Copperbelt. Corporate office 
activities are not allocated to operating segments and form part of the balance of unallocated revenue, expenses, 
assets and liabilities. 

(x) Profit/Loss per Share 

Basic profit/loss per share is calculated as net loss attributable to members of the Company divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares.  Diluted profit/loss per share is calculated by adjusting the net 
profit/loss attributable to members of the Company and the number of shares outstanding for the effects of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares, which include share options. 

(y) Derivative activities 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently measured to their fair value at each reporting date.  The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income immediately unless the derivative is designated as an effective hedge 
instrument, in which event, the timing of the recognition in the Statement of Comprehensive Income depends on 
the nature of the hedge relationship. 

(z) Comparative Figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 

(aa) Rounding of amounts 

The Financial Statements have been rounded to the nearest US$1,000 unless otherwise indicated. 
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NOTE 3:  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

(a) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as described 
below.  Certain comparative information has been re-classified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 

The Company has adopted the following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 
Interpretations as of 1 July 2013.  Adoption of these Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant 
effect on the financial position or performance of the Consolidated Group for the year ended 30 June 2014. 

 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 

 AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 

 AASB 119 Employee Benefits 

 AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 

and Financial Liabilities 

 AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-

2011 Cycle 

 AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the withdrawal of Australian Interpretation 1039 

 AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management 

Personnel Disclosure Requirements [AASB 124] 

AASB Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine and AASB 2011-12 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 20 (effective 1 July 2013) was adopted for the year 
ended 30 June 2014.  Interpretation 20 sets out the accounting for overburden waste removal (stripping) costs in 
the production phase of a mine.  It states that these costs can only be recognised as an asset if they can be 
attributed to an identifiable component of the ore body, the costs relating to the improved access to that 
component can be measured reliably and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the stripping 
activity (improved access to the ore body) will flow to the entity.  

The Group has identified components of the ore bodies at its open pit mines where the above criteria are met and 
capitalised $10.3m in the financial year to 30 June 2014.  The stripping activity asset is being amortised using the 
units of production method over the life of the identified component of the ore body.  Amortisation charged in the 
period under review amounted to $3.7m.  

(b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted 

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may 
impact the Consolidated Group in the period of initial application.  They have been issued but are not yet effective 
and with the exception of AASB 9/IFRS 9 are available for early adoption at 30 June 2014, but have not been 
applied in preparing this financial report. 

Reference Title 
Application of standard 

and impact on the 
Company’s financial report 

Application Date from 
Group 

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities 

Effective 1 January 2014, 

expected to have 

minimal impact. 

1 July 2014 

Interpretation 
21 

Levies Effective 1 January 2014, 

expected to have 

minimal impact. 

1 July 2014 
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Reference Title 
Application of standard 

and impact on the 
Company’s financial report 

Application Date from 
Group 

AASB 9/IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Effective 1 January 2018, 
the Group has not yet 
determined the extent of 
the impact of the 
amendments, if any. 

1 July 2018 

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 
Assets 

Effective 1 January 2014, 

expected to have 

minimal impact. 

1 July 2014 

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Part A 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 
Cycle 

Effective 1 July 2014, 

expected to have 

minimal impact. 

1 July 2014 

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Part A 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 
Cycle 

Effective 1 July 2014, 

expected to have 

minimal impact. 

1 July 2014 

AASB 1031 Materiality Effective 1 January 2014, 

expected to have 

minimal impact. 

1 July 2014 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers Effective 1 January 2017, 

the Group has not yet 

determined the extent of 

the impact of the 

amendments, if any. 

1 July 2017 

Amendments 
to IAS 16 and 
IAS 38 

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation 
(Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38) 

Effective 1 January 2016, 

expected to have 

minimal impact. 

1 July 2016 

Apart from the above, other accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that will be applicable in 
future periods have been considered, however their impact is considered insignificant to the Company. 

NOTE 4:  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements.  Management continually evaluates its judgments 
and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.  Management bases its 
judgments and estimates on historical experience and on other various factors it believes to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. 

Management has identified the following critical accounting matters for which significant judgments, estimates 
and assumptions are made.  Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and 
conditions and may materially affect financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.  Further 
details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the Financial 
Statements. 

(i) Significant accounting judgments 

Going Concern 

The Company has prepared the 30 June 2014 financial report on a going concern basis.  The Company believes that 
the financial forecasts of the Project together with the equity raise and completed debt re-profile will ensure that 
the Company will operate as a going concern for the next 12 months.  
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NOTE 4:  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued) 

(i) Significant accounting judgments (continued) 

If the Consolidated Group is not able to generate positive cash flow from operations, it may not be able to 
continue as a going concern and realise assets and extinguish its liabilities in the ordinary course of business and at 
the amounts stated in the financial report.   

No adjustments have been made relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts and 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Consolidated Group not continue as a going concern. 

Impairment of assets 

The Consolidated Group assesses each cash-generating unit half-yearly, to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment.  Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount 
is made, which is deemed as being the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use calculated in 
accordance with accounting policy Note 2(j).  These assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions 
such as discount rates, exchange rates, commodity prices, future operating development and sustaining capital 
requirements and operating performance (including the magnitude and timing of related cash flows). 

The Company has undertaken an impairment review and determined that no impairment is required against the 
recorded value of the Company’s non-current assets (2013: $205.7m). 

Taxation 

The Company’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgment as to the types of arrangements 
considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost.  Judgment is also required in assessing whether 
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position.  
Deferred tax assets, including those arising from un-recouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences, 
are recognised only where it is considered probable that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the 
generation of sufficient future taxable profits.  Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits depend 
on management’s estimates of future cash flows.  These depend on estimates of future production and sales 
volume, future operating costs, capital expenditure, and other capital management transactions. 

Judgments are also required about the application of income tax legislation.  These judgments and assumptions 
are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter 
expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised on the 
statement of financial position and the amount of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised.  
In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may 
require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit or charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to 
equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity. 

Estimated useful lives of assets 

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience.  In addition, the condition of 
the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining useful life.  Adjustments to 
useful lives are made when considered necessary. 

Given the required use of estimates in the measurement of contained mineral content, mine lives are subject to 
inherent measurement uncertainty.  Actual mineral content may significantly differ from estimates which could 
result in a change to future amortisation and depreciation charges.  Management will increase the charge where 
useful lives are less than the previously estimated useful lives and reduce the charge where they are greater than 
those estimates. 
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NOTE 4:  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued) 

(ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Reductions in a life of mine may indicate an impairment, in which case management would assess the 
recoverability of those assets.  Similarly, estimates of useful lives for property, plant and equipment with lives 
shorter than the applicable mine life is open to measurement uncertainty.  These result from uncertainties 
regarding future technical obsolescence, wear and tear and useful employment in the business of such assets. 

Rehabilitation and dismantling obligations 

Provision is made for the anticipated costs of future rehabilitation of exploration areas in accordance with the 
accounting policy in Note 2(l).  These provisions include future cost estimates associated with reclamation, 
dismantling of equipment, waste site closures, monitoring, demolition and decontamination.  These future cost 
estimates are discounted to their present value.  The calculation of these provision estimates requires assumptions 
such as application of environmental legislation, available technologies, engineering cost estimates, discount rates 
and estimates of timing.  A change in any of the assumptions used may have a material impact on the carrying 
value of rehabilitation and dismantling provisions. 

Estimated Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 

The use of management estimates and assumptions relating to Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves are the base 
inputs for future cash flow estimates used in impairment calculations, units-of-production amortisation 
calculations and deferred stripping calculations; estimates of recoverable copper in stockpile; environmental, 
reclamation and closure obligations. 

Exploration and Evaluation expenditure 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgment 
in determining whether future economic benefits are likely either from future exploitation or sale.  The deferral 
policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions about future events or circumstances, in 
particular whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established.  Estimates and assumptions 
made may change if new information becomes available. 

Production start date 

The Consolidated Group assesses the stage of each mine under construction to determine that an operation 
moves into the production stage when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended use.  The 
criteria used to assess the start date are determined based on the unique nature of each construction project, such 
as the complexity of a plant and its location.  The Consolidated Group considers various relevant criteria to assess 
when the production phases is considered to commence and all related amounts are reclassified from ’Capital 
work in progress’ to ‘Deferred development’ and ’Property, plant and equipment’.  Some of the criteria used will 
include, but are not limited to, the following:  

 the level of capital expenditure incurred compared to the original construction cost estimates; 

 completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine plant and equipment; 

 ability to produce metal in saleable form (within specifications); and  

 ability to sustain ongoing production of product. 

When a mine development/construction project moves into the production stage, the capitalisation of certain 
mine development/construction costs ceases and costs are either regarded as forming part of the cost of inventory 
or expensed.  The exception to this is costs that qualify for ongoing capitalisation relating to mining asset additions 
or improvements, underground mine development or resource definition and development.  Once the production 
stage commences depreciation and amortisation also commences to be expensed.  The Consolidated Group 
entered the production stage from 1 July 2013. 
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NOTE 5:  PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Copper sales 107,833 - 

Silver sales 12,367 - 

Commodity hedge gains realised 34,866  

Revenue from continuing operations 155,066 - 

   

Other revenue 328 89 

   

Total income 155,394 89 

   

Amortisation of mine properties (129) - 

Depreciation of mining plant and equipment (17,787) - 

Mining depreciation and amortisation (17,916) - 

   

Asset impairment expenses - (205,677) 

   

Salaries and consultants (7,513) (11,250) 

Professional fees (2,073) (8,594) 

Rent (398) (351) 

Travel expenses (459) (789) 

Other expenses (1,303) (2,077) 

Administrative expenses (11,746) (23,061) 

 

NOTE 6:  INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

(a) Income tax expense comprises 

Income Statement 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Current Income tax   

Current income tax expense 20 - 

Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years  110 - 

 130 - 

Deferred tax   

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 3,876 (3,453) 

Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years - - 

 3,876 (3,453) 

Income tax expense/(benefit) per the Income Statement 4,006 (3,453) 

Income tax expense/(benefit) included in the Other 
Comprehensive Income 

9,589 (9,764) 
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NOTE 6:  INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 

(b) Reconciliation of prima facie income tax expense to income tax expense per the Income Statement 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Accounting Profit/(Loss) before tax 19,008 (227,732) 

   

Income tax expense (benefit) at 30% (2013: 30%) 5,702 (68,320) 

Increase (decrease) in income tax due to:   

Difference in tax rates (2,096) 20,424 

Non-deductible expenses 400 760 

Movement in tax assets and liabilities - 43,683 

   

Income tax expense (benefit) comprising:   

Current income taxes 130 - 

Future income taxes 3,876 (3,453) 

The unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets has been recognised and the potential tax benefits from 
future are: 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Unused tax losses (186,817) (184,306) 

 

(c) Movement in deferred taxes 

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following: 
2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Deferred tax liabilities   

Property, plant and equipment 36,516 40,411 

Revaluation of commodity forward contract - 3,877 

Exploration expenditure 2,221 1,844 

Gross deferred tax liabilities 38,737 46,132 

Set-off deferred tax assets (38,737) (46,132) 

Net deferred tax liabilities - - 

Deferred tax assets   

Provisions & Employee benefits - - 

Carry forward revenue losses  38,737 46,132 

Gross deferred tax assets 38,737 46,132 

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities (38,737) (46,132) 

Net deferred tax assets - - 
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NOTE 6:  INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 

In assessing the probability of the realisation of the tax benefit of the Consolidated Group’s tax losses the following 
matters are considered: 
(1) The relevant tax authority accepts the calculated positions; 
(2) The Group derives sufficient taxable income in future periods; 
(3) The Group meets the conditions for continued carry forward of these losses; and 
(4) There are no changes in the applicable tax laws that impact the availability of these losses. 

NOTE 7:  INTERESTS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP) 

The Directors’ Report shows details of the remuneration, shares and options granted, exercised or forfeited and 
balances held by KMP for the current and prior year. The information includes holding by associates of the named 
KMP. Details of appointment dates and positions held are contained below.   

(a) Names and positions held of the Company’s KMP in office at any time during the year are: 

KMP Position Dated Appointed Date Resigned 

Jeremy Read 
2
 Chairman – Executive 26 June 2014  

Ribson Gabonowe Director – Non-Executive 30 April 2008  

Russell Luxford Director – Non-Executive 25 September 2013  

Paul Frederiks Chief Financial Officer 22 October 2012  

Robert Fulker 
3
 Chief Executive Officer (interim) 4 November 2013  

Lawrence Manjengwa General Manager, Boseto Operations 1 April 2014  

Robert Cooper 
4
 General Manager, Operations 1 April 2014  

John Shaw 
1
 Chairman – Non-Executive 21 May 2013 29 October 2013 

Niall Lenahan Director – Non-Executive 2 April 2012 4 November 2013 

Stuart Bradley Sampson Managing Director 1 February 2008 4 November 2013 
1
 John Shaw was a Non-Executive Director from 1 July 2012 to 20 May 2013 and was then appointed Chairman. 

2
Jeremy Read was a Non-Executive Director from 1 February 2008 to 30 October 2013 and was then appointed Acting Chairman 

on 30 October 2013 in addition to his role as Non-Executive Director. On 26 June 2014 he was appointed Executive Chairman 
until 31 December 2014, after which the Company plans to appoint a new Non-Executive Chairman on a permanent basis. 
3 

Robert Fulker was Chief Operating Officer from 26 November 2012 to 3 November 2013 and was then appointed Chief 
Executive Officer (interim)/Chief Operating Officer. 
4 

Robert Cooper was General Manager, Boseto Operations from 1 September 2013 and was then appointed General Manager, 
Operations on 1 April 2014.  

(b) Compensation for Key Management Personnel 

 2014 
US$ 

2013 
US$ 

Short term employee benefits 1,631,530 3,029,118 

Post-employment benefits 82,366 143,855 

Termination benefits 770,577 357,247 

Share-based payment 203,587 581,131 

Total compensation 2,688,060 4,111,351 
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NOTE 8:  LOSS PER SHARE 

  2014 
US$’000 

2013 
US$’000 

(a) Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss    

Net Profit/(Loss)  15,002 (224,280) 

Profit/(Loss) used in the calculation of basic EPS/LPS  15,002 (224,280) 

Profit/(Loss) used in the calculation of diluted EPS/LPS  15,002 (224,280) 
    

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year used in calculation of basic EPS/LPS 
excluding Share Plan issues 

 
550,256,445 481,480,496 

Weighted average number of options outstanding  - 772,192 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year used in calculation of diluted EPS/LPS 

 
550,256,445 482,252,688 

NOTE 9:  CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Cash on hand and at bank 3,365 13,408 

Deposits at call 217 206 

Restricted Cash
1
 1,000 7,696 

 4,582 21,310 
1
 Restricted Cash is required by the Lending Agreement for the payment of future debt service commitments. 

Credit Risk Exposure 

All cash investments are held in transactional bank accounts or on term deposit held with international banks, 
each of which carries a Moody’s short term credit rating of P-1 or above with maturity tenures of twelve months or 
less.  The credit risk exposure of the Consolidated Group in relation to cash and deposits is the carrying amount 
and any accrued unpaid interest.   

NOTE 10:  TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES 

CURRENT 
2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Trade receivables 4,455 6,216 

Other receivables 416 50 

GST/VAT receivable 2,280 5,020 

 7,151 11,286 

Receivables are non-interest bearing and unsecured.  All of the receivables are current and not impaired. 

Fair Value and credit risk 

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivable.  Collateral is not held as security, nor is it the 
Company’s policy to transfer receivables to special purpose entities.  Refer to Note 24 to the Financial Statements 
for more information on the risk management policy of the Consolidated Group trade receivables. 

Interest rate risk 

Details regarding interest rate risk exposure are disclosed in Note 24 to the Financial Statements. 
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NOTE 11:  PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEPOSITS 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Prepayments to creditors and sub-contractors 5 1 

Prepaid expenses – Other 173 175 

Deposits to suppliers 1,206 530 

 1,384 706 

NOTE 12:  INVENTORY 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Held at Net Realisable Value:   

ROM Stockpile 1,516 - 

Copper concentrate 1,637 2,488 

Held at Historic Cost:   

Materials and Supplies 8,931 12,263 

 12,084 14,751 

Copper concentrate and ROM Stockpile inventory is carried at net realisable value with the change in value of 
these items recorded within mine operating costs. 

NOTE 13:  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Note 13.1 Other financial assets 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income   

Commodity forward contracts – Copper - 17,621 

Commodity forward contracts – Silver - - 

Total financial instrument at fair value - 17,621 
   

Total other Financial assets - 17,621 

Total current - 17,621 

Total non-current - - 

Total other Financial assets - 17,621 

 
During the year ended 30 June 2014 commodity forward contracts relating to 8,291 tonnes of copper expired 
resulting in a net cash inflow of $15.0m. 

The Consolidated Group has no copper or silver hedging in place at 30 June 2014. The Company intends to hedge 
copper and silver production in future periods.    

Monthly forward contracts were cash settled against the average of the daily LME Official Cash Settlement Price 
recorded during the relevant contract month with the cash settlement taken through to the following month’s 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.   

The Consolidated Group records and discloses the fair value of commodity forward contracts using a direct 
valuation methodology where all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable 
(level 2). 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For The Year Ended 3 0 June 2014  
 

 66 

NOTE 13:  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued) 

Note 13.2 Other financial liabilities 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Financial liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income   

Commodity forward contracts – Copper - - 

Commodity forward contracts – Silver - - 

Total financial liabilities at fair value through OCI - - 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost   

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 291 1,000 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 109,561 150,851 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 109,852 151,851 

Total other financial liabilities 109,852 151,851 

Total current   

Interest bearing loans, borrowings & other liabilities - 150,851 

Non-interest bearing loans and borrowings 291 709 

Total non-current   

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 109,561 - 

Non-interest bearing loans and borrowings - 291 

Total other financial liabilities 109,852 151,851 

Fair value 

The carrying amount of the Consolidated Group’s interest bearing liabilities approximates their fair value. 

Interest rate and liquidity risk 

Information regarding interest rate and liquidity risk exposure is set out in Note 24 to the Financial Statements. 

Commodity price risk 

Information regarding commodity price risk exposure is set out in Note 24 to the Financial Statements. 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings  

On 19 May 2014, the Company announced it had executed a legally binding term sheet with its lenders under 
which the Company’s interest bearing debt would be reduced to $100m and repayments re-profiled, subject to the 
parties entering into definitive, long form documents (Debt Re-Profile).  On 15 July 2014, the Company announced 
that the parties had executed definitive, long form documents and on 21 July 2014 the Company confirmed that 
conditions precedent had been satisfied and that the Debt Re-Profile was effective from 18 July 2014. Due to the 
legally binding nature of the 19 May term sheet the transaction has been recorded within the financial statements 
effective as of 30 June 2014 in accordance with applicable accounting standards as an adjusting subsequent event. 

Under the Debt Re-Profile: 

 all continuing defaults were waived on execution of the Term Sheet; 

 the current gross interest bearing debt owing under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Project Finance 
Facility of approximately $160.4m (including capitalised interest) was reduced to $100m (New Balance); 

 the New Balance has a loan term of 9 years (Loan), with interest capitalised for the first 4 years of the term; 

 interest rate is now LIBOR plus 5%, with interest capitalised until September 2018; 

 scheduled principal repayments will be made commencing in year 5 of the Loan; and 
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 the parties have agreed to a mechanism that will provide for the lenders to be returned incentive payments in 
addition to repayment of the Loan, up to a maximum aggregate amount of $20m, commencing after final 
repayment of the Loan.  

The facility is secured against the Boseto Copper Operation assets and other group assets including:   

1. First ranking charges over the assets and undertakings of Discovery Copper Botswana Proprietary 
Limited;  

2. First ranking security over Discovery Copper Mauritius Limited shareholding in Discovery Copper 
Botswana Proprietary Limited;  

3. First ranking security over Discovery Metals Limited shares in Discovery Copper Mauritius Limited; 
4. First ranking security over shares held in other group companies;  
5. First ranking charge over the Proceeds Account, the Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) and all 

other Project bank accounts;  
6. Security over all material agreements, concessions and permits required to operate the Boseto 

Copper Operation, including the proceeds of all insurance policies;  
7. Direct agreements with counterparties to Material Contracts for the purposes of ensuring cure and 

step-in rights for the benefit of the Lenders;  
8. Guarantees by Discovery Copper Mauritius Limited and Discovery Metals Limited of the obligations 

of the Borrower under the Facilities.; and  
9. Cession and subordination of intercompany loans granted to DCB by DML and DCM.  

Conditions subsequent under the Debt Re-Profile, which if not satisfied would constitute an event of default under 
the facility agreement are: 

 the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Discovery Copper (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited, the 
borrower under the facility agreement, is required to deliver an updated financial model and 
development plan (Business Plan) for the Boseto Operation demonstrating loan repayment and covenant 
compliance, in a form and substance acceptable to the lenders and a lender appointed independent 
technical expert, by 31 August 2014.  No later than 20 business days after delivery of the Business Plan 
the lenders shall deliver to the Company an updated repayment schedule in accordance with the Business 
Plan; this may result in loan repayments starting in a period less than 5 years; 

 the Company has committed to raise equity, on or before 31 December 2014, sufficient to finance 
development of the first Zeta underground mine to an operational stage and to support the Company’s 
related working capital requirements.   

Under the terms of the facility the Company is required to maintain an average cash balance during the ten days 
immediately preceding the last business day of each calendar month of no less than $2.0 million on and prior to 
31 August 2014 and $3.0 million on and after 30 September 2014.  

As at 30 June 2014 the facility was fully drawn at $100m.  The facility together with the $20m incentive payment 
has been recorded at 30 June at its fair value based on the expected repayment profile in accordance with 
applicable accounting standards.  The fair value at initial recognition of the facility and the $20m incentive 
payment was $109.6m. 

Refer to Note 29 to the Financial Statements for subsequent events and further changes to the debt facilities.  
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NOTE 14:  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Movement in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current financial year: 

 Motor 
Vehicles 

Office & 
Furniture 

Buildings 
Computer & 

Plant & 
Equipment 

Capital Work in 
progress 

Rehab 
Asset 

Mine 
Development 

Costs 
Total 

 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Balance as at 30 June 2012 2,577 271 - 63,787 214,965 6,784 
 

- 
288,384 

Transfers* - - 55,323 118,331 (173,654) - - - 

Reclassification - - - - (41,780) - - (41,780) 

Additions 28 295 2,192 20,940 4,913 (3,316) - 25,052 

Disposals (25) - - (1,198) - - - (1,223) 

Depreciation Expense (636) (208) - (11,294) - - - (12,138) 

Less Impairment (436) (75) (19,056) (57,366) (1,229) (855) - (79,017) 

Balance as at 30 June 2013 1,508 283 38,459 133,200 3,215 2,613 - 179,278 

Transfers 40 91 2,590 307 (3,757) - - (729) 

Reclassification - - - (3,903)
1
 (399) (718) - (5,020) 

Additions - 9 1,875 99 1,531 - 10,341 13,855 

Disposals (283) (4) - (476) - - - (763) 

Depreciation Expense (576) (119) (2,643) (14,448) - (129) (3,720) (21,635) 

Balance as at 30 June 2014 689 260 40,281 114,779 590 1,766 6,621 164,986 

Depreciation charged to 
Exploration Asset/ Deferred 
development 

74 5 - 91 - - - 170 

Net Depreciation Charge for year (502) (114) (2,643) (14,357) - (129) (3,720) (21,465) 

1
Represents reversal for the Sedgman settlement agreement. Refer Note 25.  
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NOTE 14:  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying amount 
of other assets during the year: 

  2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Motor Vehicles  (576) (636) 

Office & Furniture  (119) (208) 

Buildings  (2,643) - 

Computer & Plant & Equipment  (14,448) (11,294) 

Rehab Asset  (129) - 

Mine Development Asset  (3,720) - 

Total  (21,635) (12,138) 

Borrowing costs, whether recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying amount of other assets 
during the year: 

  2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Capitalised to Property, Plant & Equipment   -  6,739 

Expensed to Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

  3,070  3,572 

Total   3,070  10,311 

 

NOTE 15:  DEFERRED DEVELOPMENT 

Deferred development costs are costs capitalised for mining properties in development: 

  2014 2013 

  US$’000 US$’000 

Opening balance  - - 

Transfers from exploration  1,101 92,970 

Additions 4(ii) - 156,020 

  1,101 248,990 

Revenues (pre-production revenues) 4(ii) - (122,544) 

Less expenditure impaired  - (126,446) 

Carrying Balance 30 June  1,101 - 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2013 areas of interest related to the Boseto Copper Operation were 
reclassified from construction works in progress and exploration. 

The Directors determined that with effect from 1 July 2013, operating revenue and expenses from Boseto would 
be taken to the profit and loss statement rather than be capitalised on the basis that all key ramp up metrics had 
been achieved except for delivery of ore.  As such, depreciation and amortisation of fixed project assets also 
commenced from 1 July 2013 and project borrowing costs were no longer to be capitalised. 
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NOTE 16:  EXPLORATION 

Exploration rights and development costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the exploration phase: 

 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 

Opening balance 8,384 56,179 

Less transfer to deferred development (1,101) (51,189) 

Expenditure incurred (net of JOGMEC’s reimbursement) 2,812 3,430 

 10,095 8,420 

Less expenditure impaired - (36) 

Carrying Balance 30 June 10,095 8,384 

Mining prospecting licence costs are carried forward in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 to 
the Financial Statements.  The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is 
dependent on successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of these areas of interest. 

An amount of $51.19 million was transferred to deferred development effective 30 June 2013.  As disclosed in 
Note 15 this transfer was necessary to allow the commencement of depreciation and operation of these assets 
from 1 July 2013. 

NOTE 17:  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Computer Software 
2014 2013 

US$’000 US$’000 

Opening Balance  878 739 

Additions 729 860 

Disposals - (112) 

Amortisation Expense (798) (403) 

Less expenditure impaired - (206) 

Balance at 30 June  809 878 

The Intangible Assets of the Consolidated Group comprise computer software purchased to control the planning 
and operation of the Boseto Copper Operation. 

NOTE 18:  IMPAIRMENT 

No impairment charge has been recognised in the year ended 30 June 2014.  The Consolidated Group performed 
its annual impairment test as at 30 April 2014.  The Consolidated Group considers the relationship between its 
market capitalisation and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment.  As at 
30 April 2014, the market capitalisation of the Group closely approximated the book value of its equity indicating 
no impairment of the assets of the Group.  The annual impairment test was further reviewed as at 30 June 2014 
and the Directors are satisfied that conditions remained such that no impairment of Group assets is necessary. 

The recoverable amount of the Boseto Operation Cash Generating Unit (CGU) has been determined on a fair value less 
cost to sell basis using cash flow projections from financial budgets and forecasts approved by senior management 
covering a twelve year period and other independent valuation advice.  The key assumptions used in the calculations 
of fair value are: 

• recoverable reserves and resources; 

• capital expenditure; 

• commodity prices; 

• treatment charges receivable by smelting and refining operations; and 

• discount rates. 
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NOTE 18:  IMPAIRMENT (continued) 

This fair value reflects a transition in mining method to underground sources based on the updated Ore Reserves and 
Mineral Resources as announced to the market in July 2013.  The real pre-tax weighted average cost of capital 
(discount rate) applied to cash flow projections is 9.5%.  Long-term commodity prices and treatment charges are 
based on external market consensus forecasts.  Specific prices are determined from information available in the 
market after considering the nature of the commodity produced and long term market expectations.  Any 
unfavourable change in these assumptions may lead to impairment. 

The carrying value of the CGU assessed for impairment was $166.8m at 30 June 2014. 

NOTE 19:  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Current Liabilities 
2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Trade creditors & payables 14,867 18,733 

Accruals 11,226 8,553 

 26,093 27,286 

Accrued Expenses includes Withholding Tax withheld from payments to suppliers and payable the month following 
deduction. 

NOTE 20:  PROVISIONS 

Current  
 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Employee benefits (i) 1,415 1,873 

Mine rehabilitation  (ii) - - 

Income tax  39 - 

Total current portion  1,454 1,873 

 

Non-Current  
 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Employee Benefits (i) - - 

Mine rehabilitation  (ii) 5,026 5,433 

Total non-current portion  5,026 5,433 

 
(i) Employee benefits  

This represents annual leave. 

Movements in Leave Provisions 
 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Opening Balance  1,873 1,395 

Increase/(decrease) in provision  269 2,196 

Paid during the year  (727) (1,718) 

Closing balance  1,415 1,873 
    

Split between    

Current  1,415 1,873 

Non-Current  - - 
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NOTE 20:  PROVISIONS (continued) 

(ii) Mine rehabilitation  

The Consolidated Group recognises that it has an obligation to restore its mine sites to their original condition at 
the end of the life of mine.  Mine rehabilitation costs are provided for at the present value of future expected 
expenditure when the liability is incurred.  Although the ultimate cost to be incurred is uncertain, the Consolidated 
Group has estimated its costs based on feasibility and engineering studies using current restoration standards and 
techniques. 

The mine rehabilitation provision has been calculated based on an expected mine life to 2026, using a discount 
rate of 5.84%. (2013: 6.46%) 

When this liability is recognised, a corresponding asset is also recognised as part of the development costs of the 
mine and is amortised across the same useful life.  

Movements in mine rehabilitation 
provision 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

At 1 July   5,443 8,427 

Increase/(decrease) in provision  (719) (3,314) 

Paid during the year  - - 

Unwinding of discount  302 330 

At 30 June  5,026 5,443 
    

Split between    

Current  - - 

Non-Current  5,026 5,443 
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NOTE 21:  ISSUED CAPITAL 
 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

 2014 

Shares 

2013 

Shares 

Fully paid ordinary shares at 30 June 277,854 267,081  644,039,581 486,986,451 

(a) Ordinary Shares      

At beginning of reporting year 267,285 215,405  486,986,451 442,128,231 

Shares issued during the year:      

- Issued at A$0.03451 2,682 -  84,005,163 - 

- Issued at A$0.12 8,242 -  73,047,967 - 

- Issued at A$0.38 each - 36  - 100,000 

- Issued at A$1.20 each - 53,898  - 42,643,710 

- Issued at Nil - -  - 2,114,510 

Transaction costs relating to share 
issues 

(355) (2,054)    

At reporting date 277,854 267,285  644,039,581 486,986,451 

Employee and Director Share Plan Trust
1
  (4,406,627) (7,934,899) 

Shares on issue to parties external to Consolidated Group  639,632,954 479,051,552 
1 This is a special purpose vehicle set up to administer the Consolidated Group’s Employee and Director Share Plan.  Details of the plan are 
disclosed in Note 28 to the Financial Statements.  

(a) Ordinary Shares 

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid 
upon shares held.  Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of 
the Company.  All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.  Ordinary shares have no par 
value. 

(b) Options 

At 30 June 2014 there were no (2013: 1,250,000) unissued ordinary shares of the Company for which options were 
outstanding.  

During the year ended 30 June 2014 no ordinary shares of the Company were issued on the exercise of options 
granted under the Option Plan.  Options for 1,250,000 ordinary shares of the Company expired during the year. 
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NOTE 22:  RESERVES 

 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 

Share based payment reserve 14,419 13,990 

Hedging Reserves 15,764 49,760 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 13,197 13,197 

 43,380 76,947 

Hedge Reserve 

Movements in hedging reserves 
2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

At 1 July 49,760 48,362 

Increase/(decrease) in hedging instruments (33,996) 15,785 

Transfer to PPE/deferred development - (18,250) 

Transfer to P&L in effective portion - (5,901) 

Tax effect on hedge reserve - 9,764 

At 30 June 15,764 49,760 

In accordance with AASB139 realised gains on early close-out of hedge instruments have been quarantined in the 
hedging reserve until the original hedged transaction occurs. 

Share based payment reserve  

The option reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share options and shares 
allotted to the Employee and Director Share Plan Trust account. 

Movements in Share based payment reserves 
2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

At 1 July  13,990 13,471 

Increase/(decrease) in reserve expensed to Profit and 
Loss 

394 682 

Increase/(decrease) in reserve amortised to 
PPE/deferred development 

35 110 

Decrease in reserve from forfeiture of shares - (273) 

At 30 June  14,419 13,990 

 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign 
controlled subsidiaries’ assets to US$ at the balance date along with the translation of AUD functional net assets 
into US$ for presentation purposes. 

  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For The Year Ended 3 0 June 2014  
 

 75 

NOTE 23:  ACCUMULATED LOSSES 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year 276,469 52,189 

Net (profit)/loss attributable to members of Discovery 
Metals  

(15,002) 224,280 

Accumulated losses at the end of the year 261,467 276,469 

 

NOTE 24:  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to credit, liquidity, foreign exchange movements 
and market risk and the objectives, policies and processes the Company uses to measure and manage these risks. 

The Consolidated Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, finance leases, cash and 
short term deposits. 

(a) Risk exposures and responses 

The Company manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Consolidated Group’s financial risk 
management policy.  The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Consolidated Group’s financial 
targets while protecting future financial security.   

Primary responsibility for the identification and control of financial risks rests with the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee under the authority of the Board.  Exposure limits are reviewed by management on a continuous basis. 

The main risks arising from the Consolidated Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, commodity risk 
and liquidity risk.  The Company uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it 
is exposed.  These include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rate and commodity risk via assessments of 
market forecasts and monitoring liquidity risk through the development of rolling cash flow forecasts. 

The following table discloses the carrying amounts of each class of financial asset and financial liabilities as at 
30 June 2014. 

Category 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 4,582 21,310 

Trade and other receivables 7,151 11,286 

Commodity Forward Contracts – Copper - 17,621 

Total Financial Assets 11,733 50,217 

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 26,093 27,286 

Borrowings* 109,561 150,851 

Lease obligations 291 999 

Total Financial Liabilities 135,945 179,136 

* The carrying value of debt ($109.6m) is not the redemption value ($120.0m). Debt instruments are valued at fair value and 
subsequently amortised cost, refer to Note 2(p) to the Financial Statements. 
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NOTE 24:  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty to the Company will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in a financial loss to the Company.  Given the nature of the Consolidated Group’s operations, the relevant terms 
and conditions entered into with its customers and the net exposure held with its lender banks, the Company does 
not have any significant exposure to credit risk. 

The Company manages its exposure to credit risk via credit risk management policies which allocate credit limits 
based on the overall financial strength of the counterparty.  Publicly available credit information from recognised 
providers is utilised for this purpose where available.   

The Consolidated Group’s credit risk consists of cash deposits held with the Company’s lending banks and 
receivables.  Trade receivables relate mainly to the Copper Concentrate Sales Agreement with Transamine signed 
in March 2010.   Under the off-take agreement, 100% of the concentrate produced from the Boseto Copper 
Operation is sold to Transamine.  Additional trade receivables relate to on-charges of fuel to suppliers.  At 30 June 
2014 final invoices outstanding with Transamine totalled $4.9m representing 99% of trade receivables. The 
concentration risk is mitigated somewhat by the fact that Transamine is a 19% shareholder in the Company.  

The carrying amounts of financial assets (excluding available-for-sale financial assets) recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position, and disclosed in more detail in the notes to the Financial Statements best represent the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date.  In respect of those financial assets and the 
credit risk embodied within them, the Company holds no collateral security and there are no other significant 
credit enhancements in respect of these assets.  The credit quality of all financial assets that are neither past due 
nor impaired is appropriate and is consistently monitored in order to identify any potential adverse changes.  
There are no significant financial assets that have had terms renegotiated that would otherwise, without that 
renegotiation, have been past due or impaired. 

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was as follows: 

Trade and other 
receivables 

Not past due 
US$’000 

Past due but not impaired Total 
US$’000 

2014 Less than 30 days Between 30 & 90 days 

Trade receivables 4,455 - - 4,455 

Other receivables 416 - - 416 

GST/VAT receivable 2,280 - - 2,280 

Total  7,151 - - 7,151 

     

Trade and other 
receivables 

Not past due 
US$’000 

Past due but not impaired Total 
US$’000 

2013 Less than 30 days Between 30 & 90 days 

Trade receivables 6,216 - - 6,216 

Other receivables 50 - - 50 

GST/VAT receivable 5,020 - - 5,020 

Total  11,268 - - 11,268 
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NOTE 24:  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Possible causes of a liquidity constraint include: unplanned reduction in revenue; sustained reduction in 
profitability; unplanned acquisitions and capital expenditure; business disruptions; significant unfavourable market 
movements and financial market shocks. 

The objectives of the liquidity risk management strategy are to: 

 ensure that at all times the Company has access to sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due and to provide funds for capital expenditure and investment opportunities as 
they arise; and 

 ensure that the Company has sufficient excess liquidity to meet its non-discretionary financial obligations 
in the event of unexpected business disruptions. 

The following are the contractual and expected maturities of the Company’s liquid financial assets and the 
Company’s expected maturities of financial liabilities.  For consideration of the Consolidated Group’s liquidity 
position refer to Note 4 to the Financial Statements.  

2014 
Within 1 year 

US$’000 

1 to 2 
years 

US$’000 

2 to 5 years 
US$’000 

Greater 
than 5 
years 

US$’000 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

US$’000 

Total 
carrying 

value 
US$’000 

Cash and cash 
equivalents  

4,582 - - - 4,582 4,582 

Trade and other 
receivables 

7,151 - - - 7,151 7,151 

Trade and other 
payables 

(26,093) - - - (26,093) (26,093) 

Lease obligations (291) - - - (291) (291) 

Interest bearing 
loans and 
borrowings 

- - (37,958) (120,715) (158,673) (109,561) 

Total (14,651) - (37,958) (120,715) (173,324) (124,212) 

       

2013 
Within 1 year 

US$’000 

1 to 2 
years 

US$’000 

2 to 5 years 
US$’000 

Greater 
than 5 
years 

US$’000 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

US$’000 

Total 
carrying 

value 
US$’000 

Cash and cash 
equivalents  

21,310 - - - 21,310 21,310 

Trade and other 
receivables 

11,286 - - - 11,286 11,286 

Trade and other 
payables 

(27,286) - - - (27,286) (27,286) 

Lease obligations (999) - - - (999) (999) 

Commodity forward 
contracts 

17,621 - - - 17,621 17,621 

Interest bearing 
loans and 
borrowings 

(153,860) - - - (153,860) (153,860) 

Total (131,928) - - - (131,928) (131,928) 
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NOTE 24:  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

(d) Market Risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

The Consolidated Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Botswana Pula (BWP) the Australian Dollar (AUD) and the South 
African Rand (ZAR) (which moves closely with the Botswana Pula as the Rand comprises 75% weighting of the 
Botswana Pula basket of currencies for foreign exchange adjustments). 

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a 
currency that is not the Consolidated Group’s functional currency.  Measuring the exposure to foreign exchange 
risk is achieved by regularly monitoring and performing sensitivity analysis on the Consolidated Group’s financial 
position. 

Foreign exchange exposures may arise from transactions or balances held in currencies other than the functional 
currency of the operation or entity within the Consolidated Group.  The Consolidated Group’s potential currency 
exposures may arise from: 

1. translational exposure in respect of non-functional currency monetary items; or 

2. transactional exposure in respect of non-functional currency expenditure and revenues. 

Monetary items, including financial assets and liabilities, denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency of an operation or entity within the Consolidated Group are periodically restated to functional currency 
of the entity, and the associated gain or loss is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The Consolidated Group may use derivative financial instruments to hedge exposure to foreign exchange risk 
arising from foreign currency expenditures.  As at 30 June 2014 there were no FX derivatives outstanding.  The 
Hedging Reserve balance is non cash and denominated in US$ and is therefore not exposed to foreign currency 
movements. 

The following table shows the value of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at 
30 June 2014 and the sensitivities of these values to changes in the value of the US$.   

 
Net 

Short 
Exposure 

Effect on 
Post tax 

profit 

Effect on 
OCI 

Net Short 
Exposure 

Effect on 
Post tax 

profit 

Effect on 
OCI 

Currency Adjustment 2014 

US$'000 

2014 

US$'000 

2014 

US$'000 

2013 

US$'000 

2013 

US$'000 

2013 

US$'000 

AUD to US$ +10%  159 (16) - 1,957 (196) - 

AUD to US$ -10% 159 16 - 1,957 196 - 

BWP to US$ +10% 14,039 (1,404) - 8,520 (852) - 

BWP to US$ -10%  14,039 1,404 - 8,520 852 - 

ZAR to US$ +10% 786 (79) - - - - 

ZAR to US$ -10% 786 79 - - - - 

 

A 10% increase (decrease) in the value of the AUD versus the US$ would have led to a $16,000 translation loss 
(gain) as at 30 June 2014.  A 10% increase (decrease) in the value of the BWP versus the US$ would have led to a 
$1,404,000 translation loss (gain) as at 30 June 2014. A 10% increase (decrease) in the value of the ZAR versus the 
US$ would have led to a $79,000 translation loss (gain) as at 30 June 2014. 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For The Year Ended 3 0 June 2014  
 

 79 

NOTE 24:  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

(d) Market Risk (continued) 

(ii) Commodity price risk 

Commodity price risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from movements in the price of the Consolidated Group’s 
commodity inputs and outputs.  The Consolidated Group is primarily exposed to commodity price risk arising from 
revenue derived from future copper sales.  The Consolidated Group’s commodity price risk associated with 
financial instruments relates primarily to changes in fair value caused by settlement adjustments to receivables. 

As at 30 June 2014, the Company had no copper or silver hedging in place.  

(iii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk of increased borrowing costs, reducing the earnings of DML as a consequence of 
adverse movements in interest rates.  The majority of DML’s interest rate risk arises from its funding costs but 
other sources of interest rate risk could include interest bearing investments, finance and operating leases and 
creditors and debtor discounting.  The objective of the interest rate risk management strategy is to: 

 manage the net and total interest rate cost of DML by mitigating the impact of adverse interest rate 
movements on profitability through the use of approved instruments;  

 manage the weighted average cost of debt in a manner that is consistent with the debt funding strategy 
and the Board’s approved risk appetite;  

 support financial covenant compliance. 

At 30 June 2014 the interest rate profile of the Consolidated Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

   Fixed interest rate maturity balances  

 Average 

interest rate 

Variable 

interest rate 

Less than 

1 year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

Total 

 % US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Financial Assets       

Bank balances 0.72 3,365 - - - 3,365 

Short term deposits 3.75 217 - - - 217 

Restricted Cash 0.72 1,000 - - - 1,000 

       

Financial Liabilities       

Borrowings 5.13
1
 100,000 - - - 100,000 

Finance leases 11.61 - 291 - - 291 

1 Represents the rate applicable to the amended and restated debt facility at the effective date, 18 July 2014. 

At 30 June 2013 the interest rate profile of the Consolidated Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

   Fixed interest rate maturity balances  

 Average 

interest rate 

Variable 

interest rate 

Less than 

1 year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

Total 

 % US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Financial Assets       

Bank balances 0.27 13,408 - - - 13,408 

Short term deposits 3.75 206 - - - 206 

Restricted Cash 0.27 7,696 - - - 7,696 

       

Financial Liabilities       

Borrowings 5.32 150,851 - - - 150,851 

Finance leases 11.61 - 708 291 - 999 
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NOTE 24:  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

(d) Market Risk (continued) 

At 30 June 2014, if interest rates move as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, the 
Consolidated Group’s post tax loss and total comprehensive income would be affected as follows: 

 Post tax loss higher (lower) Effect on OCI  

Parallel Shift in 3-month 
LIBOR curve 

2014 2013 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

+1% (100 basis points) (964) (1,016) - - 

-0.25% (25 basis points) 241 254 - - 

A 100bps increase in US$ Libor would lead to an annualised $964,000 increase in interest expense based on the 
current debt repayment schedule for FY2015.  A 25bps fall in US$ Libor would lead to a 241,000 decrease in 
interest expense.  The blended yield received on deposits is assumed to remain constant at 72bps. 

(iv) Fair value risk 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The Consolidated Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various financial institutions with 
investment grade credit ratings.  Derivative valuations are provided independently by REVAL, the Company’s 
Treasury and Risk Management system. At 30 June 2014 the Consolidated Group had no open derivative positions. 

(v) Capital risk management 

The Consolidated Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

To effectively manage the Consolidated Group’s capital requirements, the Consolidated Group’s management has 
capital and operating, cash planning, budgeting and forecasting processes in place.  The Company manages the 
capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of 
the Consolidated Group’s assets.   

 2014 2013 

Capital Management Gearing Ratio US$’000 US$’000 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 109,561 150,851 

Less: cash and short term deposits (4,582) (21,310) 

Net Debt 104,979 129,541 

Total Equity  59,767 67,762 

Gearing ratio 176% 191% 
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NOTE 25:  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

At 30 June 2012, the Company reported a number of claims from and against the major construction contractor, 
Sedgman, on the Boseto Copper Project relating to time extension and penalties and some sub-standard work 
which has been remediated by the Company.  The claims from Sedgman totalled $20 million and the claims by the 
Company against Sedgman totalled $12.8 million.  

On 18
 
February 2014, the Company announced a full and final settlement of all claims and agreed to pay Sedgman 

$3.2 million (Settlement Sum), subject to receiving funds in connection with a recapitalisation of the Company’s 
debt at that time. Both parties agreed not to take any further action prior to 30 April 2014. On 1 May 2014, 
Sedgman agreed to defer the agreed settlement payment due date until no later than 31 July 2014.  

Subsequent to the reporting date, as detailed in Note 29 to the Financial Statements, the parties further agreed for 
the Settlement Sum to be paid in four instalments between 31 October 2014 and 30 June 2015.  The Company will 
pay interest on the amounts outstanding at the previously agreed interest rate of 10% per annum with interest 
falling due on the second, third and fourth instalments.  The agreement is conditional upon the Company to 
completing a A$15 million capital raising by 30 September 2014 in accordance with the Company’s proposed 
capital raising announced on 26

 
June 2014.  Permanent resolution of the dispute will be achieved upon payment of 

the Settlement Sum. 

NOTE 26:  COMMITMENTS 

(a) Leasing commitments 

Operating Lease Commitments 

The Consolidated Group leases corporate office and administrative facilities in Brisbane, Australia and Gaborone, 
Botswana.  The leases have varying terms, with options to renew the lease on respective expiry dates.  There are 
no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred are as follows: 

 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 

Payable   

- not later than one year 393 447 

- later than one year but not later than 5 years 940 1,333 

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at 

reporting date but not provided for 
1,333 1,780 
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NOTE 26:  COMMITMENTS (continued) 

(a) Leasing commitments (continued) 

Finance Lease Commitments 

The Consolidated Group holds a finance lease for a Komatsu Excavator denominated in BWP. The Company's 
obligation under the finance lease is secured by the lessor's charge over the leased asset. 

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable finance leases are payable as follows: 

 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 

Payable   

- not later than one year 291 789 

- later than one year but not later than 5 years - 300 

Total minimum lease payments 291 1,089 

Less amounts representing finance charges (9) (90) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 282 999 

Included in the financial statements as:   

Current interest bearing liabilities 291 708 

Non-current interest bearing liabilities - 291 

Total included in interest-bearing liabilities 291 999 

(b) Capital expenditure commitments 

 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 

Capital expenditure commitments contracted for:   

Payable – not later than one year 83 233 

Payable – not later than two year - - 

Payable – not later than three years - - 

(c) Exploration Expenditure Commitments 

The Consolidated Group has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work and expend a minimum 
amount of money on mineral exploration prospecting licences.  The Consolidated Group has committed to expend 
a minimum of $14.7 million (2013: $15.9 million) over the next two years to keep its current Botswana prospecting 
licences in good standing.  Annual ongoing commitments of this value are likely, subject to renewal applications 
being processed. 

 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 

Capital expenditure commitments contracted for:   

Commitment – not later than one year 9,536 8,204 

Commitment – not later than two year 2,264 8,181 

Commitment – not later than three years 2,047 127 
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NOTE 27:  SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Consolidated Group operates in one business segment being the mining industry and in two geographical 
locations, namely Australia and Botswana.  The Consolidated Group has two strategic business units, which 
operate separately under different management structures due to the geographical separation and the 
Consolidated Group’s primary focus on the Boseto Copper Operation.  The business units are: 

1. The 100% owned Boseto Copper Operation in north-west Botswana; and 

2. The exploration companies operating the Manganese, Kraaipan Gold, D’kar Copper, Ghanzi Copper, 

Ngamiland Copper and Dikoloti Nickel Project. 

The operating segment analysis presented in these financial statements reflects operations analysis by business.  It 
best describes the way the Company is managed and provides a meaningful insight into the business activities of 
the Consolidated Group. 

The Consolidated Group has identified its reportable operating segments based on the internal reports that are 
reviewed and used by the Board of Directors in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of 
resources.  Its reporting is on an operational basis which coincides with geographical segments.  The operating 
performance of each of these segments is reported to the Board of Directors on at least a monthly basis.  
Corporate office activities are not allocated to operating segments and form part of the balance of unallocated 
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities. 

Accounting policies and inter-segment transactions 

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the Company as disclosed in Note 2 
to the Financial Statements and Accounting Standard AASB 8 Operating Segments.  The following items are not 
allocated to operating segments as they are not considered part of the core operations of any segment:  

• Interest revenue; 

• Finance costs; 

• Hedging gains or losses; 

• Income taxes; 

• Corporate expenses. 

Segments are presented after elimination of inter-company transactions.  So as to ensure there are no 
asymmetrical allocations to reportable segments, the following assets and liabilities have been excluded from 
operating segments: 

• Cash and cash equivalents; 

• Current and deferred tax balances; 

• Interest bearing loans and borrowings; 

• Derivative financial instruments; 

• Assets and liabilities of the corporate office. 

Transfer prices between segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third 
parties. 

The following tables present details of revenue and operating profit by business segment.  The information 
disclosed in the tables below is derived directly from the internal financial reporting system used by corporate 
management to monitor and evaluate the performance of the Company’s operating segments separately. 
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NOTE 27:  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

2014 
Boseto 
Copper 

Exploration Corporate 
Consolidated 

Group 

For the year ended 30 June 2014 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Revenue from external customers, 

Inter-segment revenue & Interest 
120,223 6 14 120,243 

Hedging close outs 34,866 - - 34,866 

Expenses (145,196) 1,884 7,211 (136,101) 

Exploration expenditure impaired - - - - 

     

(Loss)/income before elimination 9,893 1,890 7,225 19,008 

Less: Elimination  2,080 1,664 (3,744) - 

Add income tax benefit/(expense) (3,877) - (129) (4,006) 

     

(Loss)/income after income tax  8,096 3,554 3,352 15,002 

Reportable segment assets  190,369 8,829 2,994 202,192 

     

2013 
Boseto 
Copper 

Exploration Corporate 
Consolidated 

Group 

For the year ended 30 June 2013 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Revenue from external customers, 

Inter-segment revenue & Interest 
17 3,032 9,078 12,127 

Hedging close outs 5,041 - - 5,041 

Expenses (209,750) (2,621) (20,456) (232,827) 

Exploration expenditure impaired - (36) - (36) 

     

(Loss)/income before elimination (204,692) 375 (11,378) (215,695) 

Less: Elimination   (3,003) (9,035) (12,038) 

Add income tax benefit/(expense) 3,535 (82) - 3,453 

     

(Loss)/income after income tax  (201,157) (2,710) (20,413) (224,280) 

Reportable segment assets  240,318 9,939 3,957 254,214 
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NOTE 27:  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

(a) Assets and Liabilities by geographical region 

Region – Assets 
30 June 2014 

US$’000 

30 June 2013 

US$’000 

Australia 1,470 3,957 

Botswana 200,722 250,257 

Total Assets 202,192 254,214 

 

Region – Liabilities 
30 June 2014 

US$’000 

30 June 2013 

US$’000 

Australia 802 30,626 

Botswana 141,623 155,826 

Total Liabilities 142,425 186,452 

(b) Under the off-take agreement 100% of the concentrate produced from the Boseto Mine is sold to 

Transamine. 

NOTE 28:  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

Share Options 

 2014 2013 

 Number 

 of 

Options 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 
$ 

Number  

of  

Options 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 
$ 

   Price (A$)  Price (A$) 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year   1,250,000 0.356 1,350,000 0.356 

Exercised  - - 100,000 0.375 

Expired  1,250,000 0.356 - - 

Outstanding at year-end  - - 1,250,000 0.356 

Exercisable at year-end  - - 1,250,000 0.356 

The Consolidated Group’s option plan for KMP are share options in the Parent Entity.  No options have been 
granted since the year ended 30 June 2010.  All options previously granted to KMP are ordinary shares in Discovery 
Metals Limited, which conferred a right of one ordinary share for every option held.  Refer to the remuneration 
report section of the Directors’ Report for further information. 

Share based payments, whether recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying amount of other 
assets during the year, were: 

  2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Capitalised to deferred development  - 46 

Capitalised to exploration and evaluation phases – at cost  35 64 

Expensed to Statement of Comprehensive Income  394 682 

Total  429 792 
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NOTE 28:  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

Employee & Director Share Plan  

During the three consecutive years ending 30 June 2012, the Company granted shares to Directors and executive 
management (Eligible Employees) via a Plan Trust Company to be released to the executives and Directors when 
performance hurdles are met.  The Share Plan has also operated for other non-management employees wherein 
up to 10% of the employee’s salary has been granted as shares in the Parent Entity and is subject to satisfactory 
performance of the individual, the Consolidated Group’s safety performance and continued good service by the 
employee for the two years following the award year.  Refer to the remuneration report section of the Directors’ 
Report for further information. 

 
Directors and Executive management 2014 

Number of 

Unvested Share Rights Tranche 1* Tranche 2* Tranche 3* Tranche 4* Tranche 5* Share Rights 

Unvested opening 
Balance 

3,875,000 - - 2,875,000 500,000 7,250,000 

Granted during the 
year 

- - - - - - 

Vested during the year (3,875,000) - - - - (3,875,000) 

Forfeited during year - - - (2,000,000) (500,000) (2,500,000) 

Unvested closing 
Balance as at 30 June 

- - - 875,000 - 875,000 

Vested but not drawn 
from Trust as at 30 
June 

     465,000 

Held by Trust      4,406,627 

(Surplus)/deficiency in 
trust 

     (3,066,627) 

Average value per 
right** 

0.89 0.74 0.80 0.77 1.02  

Expected maturity n/a n/a n/a 30 Sep 12 – 

31 Dec 14 
n/a  

 
*Tranche 1 - The processing plant for the Boseto Copper Project has been built and commissioned and the plant has achieved 
an output of 10,000 tonnes of copper.  The condition was satisfied during the financial year ended 30 June 2013 and the 
Directors resolved to allow the tranche to vest during the current year. 

*Tranche 2 - The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$1.00 per share for more than 10 trading days (which need not 
be consecutive). 

*Tranche 3 - The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$1.50 per share for more than 10 trading days (which need not 
be consecutive).  

*Tranche 4 - The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$2.00 per share for more than 10 trading days (which need not 
be consecutive).  

*Tranche 5 – includes measures for Shareholder Return and a “good service” component.   

The release of the shares from the Plan Trust Company is subject to continued employment and the individual meeting 
performance expectations for their role.  The shares will vest in the event of an unconditional takeover of the Company or a 
shareholder approved scheme of arrangement for acquisition of more than 50% of the Company’s issued capital. 

** These rights have been previously independently valued using a Black-Scholes option pricing model for tranche 1 and 
Monte-Carlo simulation methods for tranches 2, 3, 4 and 5. 
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NOTE 28:  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

 
Directors and Executive management 2013 

Number of 

Unvested Share rights 
Tranche 1* Tranche 2* Tranche 3* Tranche 4* Tranche 5* Share 

Rights 

Unvested opening 
Balance 

4,000,000 - - 3,750,000 500,000 8,250,000 

Granted during the 
year 

- - - - - - 

Vested during the year - - - - - - 

Forfeited during 
year*** 

(125,000) - - (875,000) - (1,000,000) 

Unvested closing 
Balance as at 30 June 

3,875,000 - - 2,875,000 500,000 7,250,000 

Held by Trust      7,934,899 

(Surplus)/deficiency in 
trust 

     (684,899) 

Average value per 
right** 

0.89 0.74 0.80 0.77 0.99  

Expected maturity 30 Jun 12 - 

13 Jul 12 

n/a n/a 30 Sep 12 – 

31 Dec 14 

15 Oct 12 – 

31 Dec 14 
 

 

*Tranche 1 - The processing plant for the Boseto Copper Project has been built and commissioned and the plant has achieved 
an output of 10,000 tonnes of copper.  Condition satisfied but Directors have resolved to not allow the tranche to vest until 
such time as the Company’s share trading blackout period is lifted. 

During the year, the Tranche 1 milestone was met, however no shares have vested or were released to Eligible Employees. 

*Tranche 2 - The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$1.00 per share for more than 10 trading days (which need not 
be consecutive). 

*Tranche 3 - The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$1.50 per share for more than 10 trading days (which need not 
be consecutive).  

*Tranche 4 - The share price (as traded on ASX) has exceeded A$2.00 per share for more than 10 trading days (which need not 
be consecutive).  

*Tranche 5 – includes measures for Shareholder Return and a “good service” component.   

The release of the shares from the Plan Trust Company is subject to continued employment and the individual meeting 
performance expectations for their role.  The shares will vest in the event of an unconditional takeover of the Company or a 
shareholder approved scheme of arrangement for acquisition of more than 50% of the Company’s issued capital. 

** These rights have been previously independently valued using a Black-Scholes option pricing model for tranche 1 and 
Monte-Carlo simulation methods for tranches 2, 3, 4 and 5. 

*** 28,272 of these shares were issued to non-managerial employees of DML within the terms of their individual employee 
agreements. 
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NOTE 29:  EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Group, the results of those operations or the state of 
affairs of the Consolidated Group in future financial years other than the following Company announcements: 

 

Date Details 

4 July 2014 Response to ASX Price Query 

9 July 2014 Appointment of New Director – Royston Denysschen 

14 July 2014 Trading Halt – pending the release of an announcement by the Company. 

15 July 2014 Debt Re-Profile Completed – The Company and its lenders have executed definitive long 
form documents for the Debt Re-Profile consistent with the terms of the legally binding 
Term Sheet announced on 19 May 2014. 

21 July 2014 Conditions Precedent to Debt Re-Profile Satisfied – The Company announces that it has 
satisfied the conditions precedent to the Debt Re-Profile, which is now effective. 

22 July 2014 Quarterly Report – 1 April to 30 June 2014 

5 August 2014 Trading Halt – pending the release of an announcement by the Company. 

7 August 2014 Sedgman Settlement Update – Further to the Company’s announcement on 1 May 
2014, the Company advises that it has executed a revised Deed of Settlement and 
Release (Revised Deed) with Sedgman providing for the Settlement Sum (US$3.2m) to 
be paid in four instalments between 31 October 2014 and 30 June 2015. The Company 
will pay interest on the amounts outstanding at the previously agreed interest rate of 
10% per annum with interest falling due on the second, third and fourth instalments. 
The Revised Deed requires the Company to complete a A$15 million capital raising by 
30 September 2014 in accordance with the Company’s proposed capital raising 
announced on 26

 
June 2014.  

7 August 2014 Boseto July 2014 Production Update 

11 August 2014 Board and Management Update – Paul Frederiks will be appointed to the Board as a 
Non-Executive Director with effect from the date of lodgement of the Company’s 
annual accounts near the end of August 2014 and will be succeeded in the position of 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary by Kerry Parker.  

13 August 2014 Appointment of Alternative Company Secretary – Kerry Parker 
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NOTE 30:  CASH FLOW 

Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit/(Loss) after Income Tax 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

Profit/(Loss) after income tax 15,002 (224,280) 

Non-cash flows in result    

Impairment expenses – exploration, 

PPE and deferred development 
- 205,713 

Asset write-down on claim settled *  3,896 - 

Interest 12,022 - 

Loans forgiven (50,383) - 

Hedge income (19,865) - 

Depreciation 21,295 509 

Share based payment 393 682 

Deferred income tax expense 3,877 (3,453) 

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 2,783 96 

Profit/(loss) on sale of assets 334 (23) 

Changes in assets and liabilities:   

(Increase)/decrease in deferred 

development costs  
(1,101) 139,369 

Decrease in receivables  4,135 998 

(Decrease)/increase in payables (1,193) 1,488 

Decrease in inventory 2,666 4,151 

(Increase) in prepaid expenses and 

deposits 
(679) (792) 

(Decrease) in provisions (836) (2,506) 

Cash flows from operations (7,654) 121,952 

 
* This amount arises on the settlement of the Sedgman dispute detailed in Note 25 to the Financial Statements. 
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NOTE 31:  CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

Controlled Entities Consolidated  Percentage Owned (%) 

Subsidiary Country of Incorporation 2014 2013 

Discovery Copper Mauritius Ltd Mauritius 100% 100% 

Discovery Metals Mauritius Ltd Mauritius 100% 100% 

Discovery Mines Mauritius Ltd Mauritius 100% 100% 

Discovery North East Mauritius Ltd Mauritius 100% 100% 

Discovery Copper Botswana Proprietary Ltd Botswana 100% 100% 

Discovery Metals Botswana Proprietary Ltd Botswana 100% 100% 

Discovery Mines Proprietary Ltd Botswana 100% 100% 

Discovery North East Proprietary Ltd Botswana 100% 100% 

NOTE 32:  COMPANY DETAILS 

The Registered Office  

of the Company is: 

The Australian office is: The Botswana office is: 

Level 23 Level 23 Plot 21314 Sebele Station Road 

333 Ann Street 333 Ann Street Phakalane 

BRISBANE  QLD  4000 BRISBANE  QLD  4000 GABORONE, Botswana 

NOTE 33:  AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

 2014 2013 

 US$ US$ 

(a) Audit Services   

Amounts received, or due and receivable, for the audit and review of the 
financial reports of the entity by: 

  

- Ernst & Young 226,580 225,410 

Total audit fees 226,580 225,410 

   

(b) Other Services    

Amounts received, or due and receivable for other services in relation to the 
entity: 

  

- Ernst & Young Australia 
(1)

 - 225,226 

- Ernst & Young Other 904 81,932 

Total Other Services fees 904 307,198 

   

Total remuneration of auditors 227,484 532,608 

(1)
  Other services comprised: 

- Advice in relation to incentive plans 
- Advice in relation to business strategy including proposed high yield bond 
- Accounting advice, tax and other assurance related services 
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NOTE 34:  INFORMATION RELATING TO DISCOVERY METALS LIMITED (PARENT ENTITY) 

 2014 

US$’000 

2013 

US$’000 

CURRENT ASSETS 1,974 2,847 

TOTAL ASSETS 62,258 68,382 

   

CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,302 30,626 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,302 30,626 

   

NET ASSETS 60,956 37,756 

   

EQUITY   

Issued capital 277,898 267,243 

Foreign currency translation reserve 26,746 26,746 

Share based payment reserve 11,864 11,674 

Accumulated losses (255,552) (267,907) 

TOTAL EQUITY 60,956 37,756 

   

Profit or loss of the parent entity 12,355 (240,736) 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) of the 

parent entity 
12,355 (240,736) 

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, as declared in Note 31 to the Financial Statements, have entered 

into a deed of cross guarantee under which the Parent Company guarantees the debts of its subsidiaries.  

Leasing commitments 

The Parent Company leases corporate office and administrative facilities in Brisbane.  The leases have varying 
terms, with options to renew the leases on respective expiry dates.  There are no restrictions placed upon the 
lessee by entering into these leases. 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred are: 

 2014 2013 

 US$’000 US$’000 

Payable   

- not later than one year 366 430 

- later than one year but not later than 5 years 937 1,332 

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at 
reporting date but not provided for 

1,303 1,762 
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The Directors of Discovery Metals Limited declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes, comprising the statement of financial position, statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, are in accordance with 

the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth): 

(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of the performance for the 

year ended on that date of the Company and the Consolidated Group. 

2. The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Statements as disclosed 

in Note 2. 

3. The Chief Executive Officer (interim) and Chief Financial Officer have each declared that: 

(a) the financial records of the Consolidated Group for the financial year have been properly maintained 

in accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth); 

(b) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and 

(c) the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view. 

4. In the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 

debts as and when they become due and payable taking into account matters disclosed in Note 4 to the 

financial statements. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 
 
 
 
 
Jeremy Read 
Executive Chairman 
 
Brisbane: dated 28 August 2014 
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